Georgia State University ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University

Educational Policy Studies Dissertations

Department of Educational Policy Studies

6-12-2007

First-Year Experience Collaboration among Academic Affairs and Student Affairs at Public State University

Kimberly Grimes Frazier

Follow this and additional works at: http://scholarworks.gsu.edu/eps diss

Recommended Citation

Frazier, Kimberly Grimes, "First-Year Experience Collaboration among Academic Affairs and Student Affairs at Public State University" (2007). Educational Policy Studies Dissertations. Paper 11.

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Department of Educational Policy Studies at ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Educational Policy Studies Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gsu.edu.

AUTHOR'S STATEMENT

In presenting this dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirement for an advanced degree from Georgia State University I agree the library of Georgia State University shall make it available for inspection and circulation in accordance with its regulation covering materials of this type. I agree that permission to quote from, to copy from, or to publish this dissertation may be granted by the author, the professor under whose direction it was written, or the College of Education's director of graduate studies and research, or by me. Such quoting, copying, or publishing must be solely for scholarly purposes and will not involve potential financial gain. It is understood that any copying from our publication of this dissertation, which involves financial gain, will not be allowed without my written permission.

Kimberly Grimes Frazier

NOTICE TO BORROWERS

All dissertations deposited in the Georgia State University Library must be used only in accordance with the stipulation prescribed by the author in the preceding statement. The author of this dissertation is:

Kimberly Grimes Frazier 615 Rosalia Street, SE Atlanta, Georgia 30312

The director of this dissertation is:

Dr. Philo A. Hutcheson, PhD
Department of Educational Policy Studies
College of Education
Georgia State University
Atlanta, Georgia 30303

VITA

Kimberly Grimes Frazier

ADDRESS: 615 Rosalia Street, S.E. Atlanta, GA

EDUCATION:

Ph.D. 2007 Georgia State University **Educational Policy Studies**

M.L.A 1992 Winthrop University Liberal Arts

B.A. 1990 Clemson University Political Science

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE:

2004 to Present Instructor for KSU 1101 First-Year Experience Seminar

Kennesaw State University

2001-2004 Director of New Student Programs

Georgia State University

1999-2001 GSU 1010 Instructor

Georgia State University

1997-2001

Director of New Student Programs/Leadership &

Assistant Director of Student Activities

1996-1997 USC University 1010 Instructor

University of South Carolina

1994-1995 USC Resident Assistant Instructor

University of South Carolina

1994-1996 Residence Education Coordinator/Housing Department

University of South Carolina

PRESENATIONS AND PUBLICATIONS:

Barker, J.M., Frazier, K.G. (2005). Annotated Bibliography: Parent and administrator resources. In K. Keppler, R.H Mullendore, & A. Carey (Eds.), Partnering with the parents of today's college students (pp. 61-69). Washington, DC: NASPA-Student Affairs Administrators in Higher Education.

ABSTRACT

FIRST-YEAR EXPERIENCE COLLABORATION AMONG ACADEMIC AFFAIRS AND STUDENT AFFAIRS AT PUBLIC STATE UNIVERSITY

by Kimberly Grimes Frazier

February 2003 was the inauguration of the Foundations of Excellence project with an open invitation to chief academic officers at approximately 900 of both the American Association of State Colleges and Universities (AASCU) and the Council for Independent Colleges (CIC) member institutions. The Policy Center on the First Year of College, under the direction of the Executive Director, John N. Gardner, invited the various campuses to develop standards and guidelines for the first year, which were termed as Foundational Dimensions or simply Dimensions. As a result, over 200 member institutions agreed to participate in the project by establishing campus-wide task forces to look at the initial list of six Dimensions developed by the Policy Center and Penn State research partners. These Dimensions were designed to be essential characteristics of institutional effectiveness in promoting the learning and success of every first-year student.

This is a case study of one of the founding institutions of the Foundations of Excellence endeavor, Public State University (PSU). In particular, this study utilizes the Foundations of Excellence Dimensions Statements as a basis to assess Public State University's first-year experience collaboration efforts. Furthermore, this research is specifically grounded in the 2nd Dimensions Statement of the Foundations of Excellence,

looking at what the Public State University first-year experience program looks like through academic affairs and student affairs collaborative partnerships. This study specifically examines PSU's established partnerships within the First Year Orientation and Advising Committee (FYOAC) and the University College Advisory Council (UCAC) and determines what participants mean by collaboration.

Through the use of a rubric, the analysis of the data resulted in a significant finding in reference to collaboration literature. The findings indicated that the literature on academic and student affairs collaboration should include information on institutional culture and investigate whether the underpinnings of institutional culture are actually social systems that are inextricably tied to their external environments, which in turn have a direct impact on foundational benchmarks on collaboration for First-Year Experience programs. Implications of this study's results are addressed, limitations of this study are discussed, and recommendations for future research are given.

FIRST-YEAR EXPERIENCE COLLABORATION AMONG ACADEMIC AFFAIRS AND STDUENT AFFAIRS

by Kimberly G. Frazier

A Dissertation

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of Requirements for the

Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Higher Education

in

the Department of Educational Policy Studies

in

the College of Education

Georgia State University

DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate this educational accomplishment in the loving memory of my Uncle Henry Williams Jr., Uncle Billy Williams, Aunt Sarah V. Jenkins and my wonderful grandparents, Gladys Mozelle Grimes, Lucile Everett Williams and particularly Henry Williams, who continuously inquired about my education and proudly smiled at the thought of literacy and would smile even brighter to see his name written here.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude of this accomplishment most of all to my parents, Tommy L.R. Grimes and Shirley Ann Grimes, who made me who I am today and believed that I would always accomplish my goals. To my brother Tyler Grimes and my sister-in-law Andrea Grimes, I thank you both for your silent nods and smiles of encouragement as you supported my educational endeavors. And to my other beloved family members, my Aunt Lynn, Uncle Larry, Uncle Bo, Aunt Ethelene, Uncle Bill, Aunt Jeanette, Uncle Woody, Uncle Danny, nephew Tyler, niece Kira, cousins, and friends who supported me in this lifetime achievement – thank you for your humorous words and gestures that kept me going.

And finally, to my husband Shawn A. Frazier, thank you for your love and untiring patience and for taking such good care of our daughter, Henna, while I completed this scholarly work. To Ms. Florence Bowser, the greatest baby sitter ever – I could not have done this without you. And to my in-laws Mr. Frederick Frazier and Mrs. Georgene Frazier, thank you for all your well wishes and prayers.

Thank you all, know that I love you very much and I accomplished this educational milestone standing on your shoulders. I can only hope that I have done the Grimes, William and Frazier names proud.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
List of Figures		5
Chantan		
Chapter		1
=		
Summary		8
2 REVIEW OF LITERATURES)	
First-Year Experience Bac	kground	10
Collaboration Characterist	ics & Opportunities	19
	orations	
External Institution Collab	orations	22
Public State University		24
3 METHOD		33
•		
Summary		41
4 RESULTS		43
Description of Participants	5	43
Open & Axial Coding		45
Emergent Categories		46
Category 1 – Institutional	Roles	46
Summary		48
	Collaboration	
	Factors for Collaboration	
	dering Collaboration	

Category 5 – Institutionalized Collaboration	62
Summary	
5 CONCLUSION	68
Summary of Results	
Implications	
Personal Observations & Commentary	
Limitations of Study	
Recommendation & Future Research	
Summary	
New President, New Era	
References	91
Appendixes	95
Appendix A	
Appendix B	
Appendix C	
Appendix D	100
Appendix E	105
Appendix F	
Appendix G	108
Appendix H	
Appendix I	113
Appendix J	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		
1	Foundations of Excellence Dimensions Statements	.7
2	Rubric	38
3	Emergent Categories	1 7

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Over the past two decades, colleges and universities have paid substantial attention to the student's first-year experience, defined by Gardner (2004) as the totality of the first year of college. Barefoot (2004) asserts that the attention to the first year of college is due to changes in student demographics, concerns about first and second year retention rates, and the understanding that the first year of college presents a rare opportunity to engage students in intentional learning behaviors. As a result, a large majority of American colleges and universities are offering first-year initiatives focused on helping new students make successful transitions from high school to college. In the same vein, there is a profusion of higher education literature in support of student transition, described as best practices in a variety of first-year programs. However, Barefoot (2004) states that although there is interest in first-year efforts, campuses have lacked systematic standards, or satisfying definitions for, first-year excellence that go beyond a single best practice program. In essence, Barefoot (2004) suggests that there should be a broader description of a college or university's total approach to first year experiences, particularly while academic affairs and student affairs divisions, for the purpose of assessment, are hungry for models of excellence and for approaches to produce higher levels of student learning and persistence during the first year.

The concern, however, according to Barefoot (2004) is that administrators and faculty members are reluctant to support standards or to evaluate themselves against

external benchmarks. Therefore, in an attempt to meet the need for a valid measurement or instrument of excellence, the Policy Center on the First Year of College instituted a two-year pilot program to define and substantiate first-year program standards and to provide institutions with a blueprint and process for assessing the first-year experience, as well as a model for first-year excellence. In order to effectively carry out this program, the Policy Center received funding from the Atlantic Philanthropies and Lumina Foundation for Education. The joint project is entitled "Foundations of Excellence in the First College Year" and is a collaborative effort between the Policy Center, the American Association of State Colleges and Universities (AASCU), the Council for Independent Colleges (CIC), and Pennsylvania State University's Center for the Study of Higher Education (Barefoot, 2004).

Foundation of Excellence Project Specifics

February 2003 was the inauguration of the Foundations of Excellence project with an open invitation to chief academic officers from approximately 900 of both AASCU and CIC member institutions. The Policy Center, under the direction of John Gardner, Executive Director, invited the various campuses to develop standards and guidelines for the first year, which were termed as Foundational Dimensions" or more simply, "Dimensions." As a result, over 200 member institutions agreed to participate in the project by establishing campus-wide task forces to look at the initial list of six Dimensions developed by the Policy Center and Penn State research partners. These Foundational Dimensions statements were designed to be essential characteristics of institutional effectiveness in promoting the learning and success of every first-year

student, with content and academic skill building, higher-order cognitive skill development, psychosocial development, and success in degree completion deemed as the primary areas of content (Barefoot, 2004).

Once developed, the Dimensions statements were edited by each institution's task force, whereby suggested statements were added and anything seeming to be irrelevant was deleted. Ultimately, representatives of AASCU and CIC institutions agreed on eight common Dimensions (Barefoot, 2004).

Figure 1. Foundations of Excellence Dimensions Statements.

- 1) approach the first year in ways that are intentional and based on a philosophy or rationale of the first year that informs relevant institutional policies and practices;
- 2) create organization structures and policies that provide a comprehensive integrated and coordinated approach to the first year;
- facilitate appropriate recruitment, admissions and student transitions through policies and practices that are intentional and aligned with institutional mission:
- 4) elevate the first year to a high priority for faculty;
- 5) serve all first-year students according to their varied needs;
- 6) engage students both in and out of the classroom in order to develop attitudes, behaviors, and skills consistent with outcomes of higher education and the institution's philosophy and mission;
- 7) ensure that all first-year students experience diverse ideas, worldviews, and people as a means of enhancing their learning and preparing them to become members of pluralistic communities;
- 8) conduct assessment and maintain associations with other institutions and relevant professional organizations in order to achieve ongoing first-year improvement (Barefoot, 2004, p6).

Consequently, the Policy Center staff selected 12 AASCU and 12 CIC campuses, from the larger group of 219, to pilot a process for using these Dimensions statements as a means for assessing the first year of college. These 24 colleges and universities, known as "founding institutions," participated in an intensive yearlong assessment project to look at their campus's achievement of each Dimension (Barefoot, 2004).

Summary

In an effort to create a standard of measurement for first-year student programs, the Policy Center on the First Year of College instituted the "Foundations of Excellence in the First College Year," a joint project between the center, the American Association of State Colleges and Universities, the Council for Independent Colleges, and Pennsylvania State University's Center for the Study of Higher Education. Since the project's inception in 2003, eight Dimensions were established as essential first-year student success characteristics for institutional benchmarking.

Significance of the Study

Schroeder (1998,) suggests that one of the most challenging trends confronting higher education is the idea of collaboration with business. For example, "Collaborate or die..." a <u>Business Week</u> headline sponsored by the J. D. Edwards Company, introduced an article that stated that in this economy, collaboration is the key to profitability (Upcraft, Gardner, Barefoot & Associates, 2005). Perhaps as business links collaboration with profitability, so must higher education link collaboration with student success - yielding a more profitable first-year learning environment for students, and as a by-product yielding profitable retention rates for colleges and universities. The <u>Business Week</u> headline might appear to be harsh and alarming, however, the literature reports that higher education has come to realize that student success is dependant upon crossing organizational boundaries and can best be addressed through collaborative partnerships between academic affairs and student affairs (Upcraft, Gardner, Barefoot & Associates).

By focusing on improving the first-year experience of students, faculty members and student affairs staff members can come together to co-create a seamless learning environment that integrates activities in order to increase student satisfaction and ensure the vitality of colleges and universities (Upcraft, Gardner, Barefoot & Associates, 2005).

The act of shifting paradigms, in this case, patterns deeply rooted in assumptions about specific areas of expertise and thought processes, is often threatening because it challenges norms or standards and requires fundamental changes in behavior. Therefore, to implement effective First-Year Experience programs, academic affairs and student affairs must overcome their initial resistance and build collaborative partnerships that are based on trust, openness, and an appreciation for diverse views. Furthermore, academic and student affairs administrators must articulate the benefits of collaboration, as well as be consistent with their expectations and rewards for collaboration (Kuh & Banta, 2000).

This study shows how participants collaborate and examine the nature of their shared activities and services in order to achieve effectiveness for the first-year experience, thereby creating seamless and supporting learning environments for in and out of class encounters (Kuh, 1997). Furthermore, this research sheds light on how the University in the study substantiates its position as a Foundations of Excellence institution for its First-Year Experience Program. Additionally, this study adds pertinent information to the literature of higher education on collaborative partnerships and to the literature gathered by the National Resource Center for First-Year Experience and Students in Transitions. This research brings awareness of best practices useful to institutions of higher education as they respond to first-year issues that can lead to increase retention and graduation outcomes as institutions form academic and student

affairs partnerships. Finally, this study is also about not just realizing the importance of cross-functional collaborations, but understanding that collaborative partnerships cannot be forced, although they can be facilitated (Upcraft, Gardner, Barefoot & Associates, 2005).

Purpose of the Study

This is a case study of one of the "founding institutions" of the Foundations of Excellence endeavor, Public State University (PSU). In particular, this study utilizes commentary literature, and documentation offered by people who are prominent in the field, but the documents are not necessarily based on research and scholarship, on Furthermore, because of my current experience as an academician and collaboration. former student affairs administrator, as well as bearing in mind Upcraft, Gardner, Barefoot & Associates' (2005) position that colleges and universities should offer intentional partnerships to challenge and support interventions for first-year success inside and outside the classroom, this research is specifically grounded in the Foundations of Excellence 2nd Dimensions Statement. This Dimension looks at "organization structures and policies that provide a comprehensive integrated and coordinated approach to the first year" (p.8). Therefore, this research observes PSU's First-Year Experience program through academic affairs and student affairs collaborative lenses. Furthermore, this study specifically examines Public State University's established committees that are engaged in collaboration, the First-Year Advising and Orientation Committee (FYOAC) and the University College Advisory Council (UCAC) (Foundations of Excellence Report, 2004)

In the paraphrased words of Lincoln (2004) this case study looks at what is at work rather than simply what works, revealing the structures, policies, and behaviors which attempt to align with Public State University's first-year efforts. The outcome of such investigation is intended to enhance the ability of Public State University and like institutions to scrutinize "organization structures and policies that provide a comprehensive, integrated, and coordinated approach to the first year experience" (Barefoot, 2004, p.6). Moreover, the findings of this research will hopefully assist institutions of higher education in identifying intentional academic and student affairs collaborations in order to ensure a seamless experience for all undergraduate students – a student experience that is based on the expert use and exposure of centralized, lucid and logically organized first-year services at their disposal.

Research Question

By obtaining answers through observation, active listening, and interviewing, this study examines a first-year experience program at a university identified as a school of excellence for first-year programs. This study specifically observes the committee work of two ongoing academic and student affairs collaborations – the First-Year Advising and Orientation Committee and the University College Advisory Council and asks the following overarching research question: what do academic and student affairs committee collaborations look like in a First-Year Program of Excellence as highlighted in <u>U.S. News and World Report</u>, one of the premier magazines for America's University and College rankings, particularly for first-year students and parents. Furthermore,

several questions within a rubric, to be discussed later, grounded in academic and student affairs collaboration literature, are used for interviews and observations.

Summary

The purpose of this study is to identify what academic and student affairs collaborations look like within a First-Year Experience Program of Excellence by specifically examining academic and student affairs committee collaborations. The following two committees were observed: The First-Year Advising and Orientation Committee (FYOAC) and the University College Council (UCAC). Furthermore, several questions within a rubric, grounded in academic and student affairs collaboration literature, were utilized to guide interviews and observations. The rubric will be discussed in chapter 3. The premise of this study is rooted in a joint project entitled "Foundations of Excellence in the First College Year" and more specifically, utilizes the second Dimensions Statement of the Foundations of Excellence guidelines for benchmarking Public State University's First-Year program.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

To better understand the First-Year Experience partnerships between academic affairs and students affairs, I conducted a thorough review of the literature and organized it into three sections. The first review of literature provides a historical perspective of the first-year experience, including first-year seminars and learning communities, and the rationale for the First-Year Experience existence in higher education. Because the impetus of this study rest with collaboration, the second section reviews collaboration and the various collaborations within a first-year experience, detailing the divergent views that exist with internal and external collaborations, as well as strategies, obstacles, and opportunities for academic and student affairs collaboration. Last, the third section reviews literature on Public State University as a "founding institution" of AASCU Foundational Dimensions. This section is divided into two parts; the first is a history of Public State University in order to provide some background information on the institution type, successes, and growth. The second part highlights the central First-Year Experience academic and student affairs partnerships as noted by the Foundations Task Force. The second part is also a review of the perceived collaborative partnerships aligned with the 2nd Foundational Dimensions Statement that rest on following Foundations of Excellence assumptions:

1) The academic mission of an institution is preeminent;

- 2) The first college year is central to the achievement of an institution's mission and lays the foundation on which undergraduate education is built:
- 3) Systematic evidence provides validation of the Dimensions; and
- Collectively, the Dimensions constitute an ideal for improving not only the first college year, but also the entire undergraduate experience (Foundations of Excellence Report, 2004, p.6).

First-Year Experience Background

Nevitt Sanford, a clinical psychologist and professor of psychology at Stanford University, wrote The American College (1962), and his overriding theme dealt with the challenges and support systems of the first year of college. He contended that in order for first-year students to persist, they must be challenged with educational experiences that foster learning and personal development; however, there must be a balance between the two. Therefore, first-year students must be supported by a campus climate that helps students learn and develop. When balance is maintained, students are positioned to succeed.

Prior to Sanford's 1962 work, very little had been written concerning college student success and first year experience, and Sanford's efforts now serves as a framework for institutional attempts to help students succeed. Furthermore, Upcraft, Gardner, Barefoot & Associates (2005) state that Sanford's concepts provide colleges and universities with the vehicle to help first-year students make a successful transition to college by assisting with intellectual competencies, interpersonal relationships, identity with self among others, career counseling, health and wellness, spirituality, diversity, and civic responsibility, all fundamental initiatives of the First-Year Experience and often core components of first-year Seminars and Learning Communities.

The First-Year Seminar

The First-Year Seminar is centered on the expectations of the particular institution, and most importantly concerned with the individual needs of its entering college student. Furthermore, seminar student enrollment usually consists of no more than 25 students. By definition, a seminar is a small discussion-based course in which students and their instructors dialogue and exchange ideas and information (Upcraft, Gardner, Barefoot & Associates (2005). Thus, the seminar provides opportunities for a positive correlation between student learning and engagement in the academic process. The seminar also allows for building upon the skills and characteristics students bring with them to college, through lectures, activities and class discussion on such issues as high school grades, admission test scores, race, ethnicity, religious preference, income, and reasons for attending college. In addition, the seminar allows students to build on the various elements within the college environment, such as size and type of institution, the socioeconomic status of peers and their values and attitudes, as well as a student's place of residence, major, and level of student involvement (Astin, 1991).

In essence, the first-year seminar is a programmatic and curricular approach to student transition and persistence based on rigorous academic courses offering orientation efforts that continue beyond the opening of school. The seminar is the core of academic and student affairs integration, as it examines institutional fit and encourages student involvement in the curricular and co-curricular (Hunter & Linder, 2003). The First-Year Seminar affords the opportunity for colleges and universities to provide an experience that both challenges and supports first-year students in making successful transitions and

reaching their educational goals (Upcraft, Gardner, Barefoot & Associates, 2005).

Gordon and Grites (1984) discuss the use of freshmen seminars to respond to an increasingly diverse student body through a common reading experience, workshops, and themed communities while Upcraft, Gardner, Barefoot & Associates, (2005) add to our knowledge about how students learn and develop and how collegiate environments, including Freshmen Experience programs, affect students by assisting them in their connections with faculty, campus resources, and peer relationships.

In 1983 the University of South Carolina presented its first annual national conference on the Freshmen-Year Experience. As of 1990, two thousand institutions of higher education offered credit or noncredit freshmen seminar courses – which suggest that such courses and programs are no longer the exception to undergraduate education but now the standard (Gardner, 2004). Furthermore, first-year seminars are essential to faculty development, as faculty members support one another and collaborate in attempts to make course connections or read familiar text through different disciplinary lens (Love, 1999). Gabelnick, MacGregor, and Smith (1990) further argue that faculty members feel a sense of novelty and motivation about their teaching experience within a seminar, in addition to being excited to have participatory students - students that are integrated into the learning process of the curricular and engaged in co-curricular activities.

Learning Communities

More and more colleges and universities, at least 75% of research institutions, 40% of Carnegie-classified master and research institutions, 20% of two-year degree

granting institutions, and 18% of baccalaureate colleges are exploring and/or implementing first-year learning communities in which cluster or linked courses are organized around curricular themes and first-year seminars. Learning communities enroll a common cohort of students, generally first-year, and create a more connected curriculum that promotes classroom and campus community (Upcraft, Gardner, Barefoot & Associates, 2005).

Learning communities are also richly grounded in early twentieth century efforts as in the cases of John Dewey, and Alexander Meiklejohn's Experimental College at the University Wisconsin (Shapiro & Levine, 1999). Dewey, an advocate for learning environments, asserted that they exist due to cooperative and collaborative approaches to learning, while linking that notion to the definition of education as an ongoing process of reorganization, reconstruction, and transformation, much like the premise behind the Policy Center's Foundations of Excellence. In the same vein, for Meiklejohn, learning communities could be viewed as an alternative to what he concluded in his original address at Amherst College to be a fragmented and incoherent general education curriculum (Meiklejohn, 1912). Learning communities pull together the conflicting aims of university instruction in regard to what is taught versus the ideals of the professor. Meiklejohn argues that administrative decisions that are made in terms of what is taught at the university level are for practical means – knowledge pays, therefore students come to not get an education but to get a job. Knowledge is good not only in and of itself, but also in the enrichment and enhancement of our values and experiences – learning communities exemplify both, through career development, personal development,

leadership development, and study skills opportunities combined with core curriculum courses (Pascarella, & Terenzini, 1991).

Furthering the scholarly foundation of learning communities is Astin's theory of early integration, which submits that learning communities are significant to student success and learning because they offer frequent student to faculty interaction, and frequent student to student interaction (Astin, 1993). As students integrate into campus and interact with faculty and peers, they form lasting connections that support and enhance the student's academic success. Learning communities are also intended to offer practical life applications to practical life situations. They offer consistent feedback and ultimately student persistence and learning that stems from collaborative academic and student affairs approaches to curriculum (Ewell, 1997). Students enter college not as empty pitchers waiting to be filled with knowledge; they enter college with their own unique concepts, personalities, and learning styles. Thus, according to Ewell learning communities are perfect environments in which students can reflect, ponder, challenge, and possibly rethink that which they have learned.

In summary, learning communities can be described as having five characteristics, (1) student collaboration, (2) faculty collaboration, (3) curricular coordination, (4) shared setting, and (5) interactive pedagogy (Goodsell, Love & Tokuno, 1999). Learning communities are environments where academic content is taught from interdisciplinary and cross-disciplinary perspectives and with such an interactive pedagogy, campuses are now creating learning communities and placing them at the center of their First-Year Experience programs (Upcraft, Gardner, Barefoot & Associates, 2005).

Collaboration

As institutions have become more complex, and enrollment has doubled since 1920 following Meiklejohn's address at Amherst College, higher education has attempted to address its complex issues through specialization, thus creating an organization that has become increasingly fragmented. In recent years many campuses have been characterized as disconnected and segregated from any common intuitional mission, guidelines, purpose, or values (Schroeder, 1998). Thus, colleges and universities are becoming organized anarchies with unclear goals, problematic technology, and unpredictable participants that are loosely coupled with authority (Cohen & March, 1974). Schroeder asserted that it is now the norm for divisions within colleges and universities to be quite autonomous, with academic affairs and student affairs having different priorities and expectations. This specialization has led to increased compartmentalization resulting in faculty members, staff members, and administrators working in "functional silos" or "mine shafts" (Schroeder, p. 2). Although working in such conditions is often effective at promoting interaction within functional teams, these silos are barriers to interaction between academic affairs and student affairs. Thus, collaborative partnerships between units are now essential to the success of higher education, more specifically the first-year experience, as well as essential to bridging the historical gap between academic affairs and student affairs (Schroeder).

Schroeder argues that there are a variety of factors that can prohibit effective collaboration, such as

fundamental cultural differences between faculty and student affairs professionals in terms of personality styles, educational preparation, values, and purposes; the historical separation of the formal curriculum from the informal co-curriculum; a prevailing view that the role of student affairs is ancillary, supplementary or

complementary to the academic mission of the institution; competing assumptions about what constitutes effective undergraduate learning; and, different institutional expectations and rewards for academic faculty and student affairs professionals (Schroeder, 1998, p. 2).

Schroeder (1998) argues that if these obstacles continue to perpetuate and uphold the disparity between academic affairs and student affairs, then it is not surprising that collaborative initiatives are rarely pursued (Schroeder, 1998).

According to Schetlin (1969), student affairs' myths have led to uncooperative working relationships between faculty members and student affairs staff. Such myths include 1) faculty members not being concerned about their students, 2) the student affairs profession being derived out of the need to fill the rift between faculty and students, and 3) the student affairs philosophy is and can only be appreciated by student affairs staff rather than faculty members. Schetlin indicated that the early period of student affairs work and faculty-student relations consisted primarily of riots, rebellions, and hostility between faculty and students. However, after the Civil War, instead of faculty members becoming more interested in research and scholarship and less connected with students, teachers and teacher-administrators introduced a new pedagogy known as the Student Affairs Point of View - a teaching method introduced and practiced by teachers in the classroom and by administrators, originally teachers themselves, outside the classroom.

This new pedagogy was the start of a progressive movement grounded in the development of the whole student, paying particular interest to the intellectual, physical, emotional, social, and spiritual development of students. Schetlin (1969) argues that perhaps the historical student affairs' myths began and then perpetuated because the basic

origin of the student affairs profession was never clearly identified, acknowledged, or recognized. Thus, the incorrect perceptions and lack of knowledge about each other's jobs, the alienating and confusing jargon, the increased specialization, and the financial competition between academic affairs and student affairs has lead to misunderstandings between faculty and staff members (Knefelkamp, 1991; Kuh et al; 1994; Love & Love, 1995). Higher education, however, is in the midst of a dramatic and profound change. Reform of undergraduate education is a priority for most colleges and universities; therefore the need for integration of academic and student affairs, the collaboration between them as an attempt to create a seamless learning environment rather than a separate one, is now a focus of higher education (Schroeder, 1998).

According to the Joint Task Force report (1998) of the American Association for Higher Education (AAHE), the American College Personnel Association (ACPA), and the National Association of Student Personnel Administrators (NASPA), people collaborate when a task or charge is too big, too urgent and demanding, or requires too much knowledge for one person or group to do alone. The <u>Joint Report</u> offers another reason for collaboration and that is to deepen student learning, which it defines as a social activity with modeling as one of the most powerful learning tools. As participants in organizations dedicated to learning, colleges and universities have a responsibility to model for students how to work together on behalf of a shared mission and to learn from one another. Hence, those in higher education are making the case that only when everyone on campus – particularly academic affairs and student affairs staff – shares the responsibility for student learning will we be able to make significant progress in improving it (A Joint Report).

Although there is substantial interest in forging collaborative partnerships among academic affairs and student affairs, a major challenge, according to Upcraft, Gardner, Barefoot & Associates (2005) is actually defining the nature of partnerships vs. collaboration. In examining this research, I find it necessary to clarify and define terms due to the common language vs. scholarly language used and that appears to dominate the discussion on collaboration; therefore, I will begin with Webster's New World Dictionary (1983) definition of partnership - a player on the same team or one of two or more persons owning jointly. In addition, partnership can be defined as an ally or a person associated with another in some common activity (American Heritage Dictionary, 1983). Stein & Short (2001) state that collaboration is often viewed as more of a long term venture and involves a considerable amount of shared decision making and risk taking. Collaboration also involves commitment, investment on the part of the collaborators, and more often than not, requires philosophical agreement from all participants on goals and objectives. Upcraft, Gardner, Barefoot & Associates (2005) view collaboration as an essential attribute of partnerships, particularly as partnerships play such a vital role in establishing a solid first-year experience program. Upcraft, Gardner, Barefoot & Associates argue that no one division, individually, can create such an integrated, coherent experience, thus, collaboration is critical in building alliances between academic and student affairs so that organizational processes can be properly coupled and aligned. Thus, for the purposes of this study, collaborative partnerships or collaboration or partnership interchangeably will be the terms used to identify and bring meaning to the joint freshmen year experiences efforts among academic affairs and student affairs. In addition, referencing Stein & Short's (2001) definition, as the

researcher of this study, I would also suggest that collaboration warrants some degree of intentionality with those involved viewing themselves as invested co-creators, generating something new and innovative for the freshmen-year experience (Upcraft, Gardner, Barefoot & Associates, 2005). Additionally, in the literature and discussion on collaboration, there seems to be significant generalizations made about what collaboration are, reinforcing the purpose of this study to examine what academic and student affairs committee collaborations look like in a first-year program of excellence. Thus, investigating the actual process of collaboration among academic and student affairs has proven to be invaluable.

Collaboration Characteristics and Opportunities

Schroeder (1998) suggests that the following seven characteristics are present in order for collaborations to occur, be they internal or external collaborations. First, most college and university collaborative partnerships result from a particular felt need within the institution. Second, partnerships result from paradigm shifts or basic shifts in perspectives, whereby problems and opportunities are viewed through different lenses. Third, stakeholders develop shared visions of issues of importance that are perceived to be better addressed through collaborations. Fourth, mutually agreed upon objectives, such as student persistence, curricular and co-curricular achievements are supported through aligned human, fiscal, and physical resources. Fifth, cross-functional teams share a common purpose, are committed to student success, and want to ensure that educational outcomes are obtained. Sixth, senior administrators with a strong sense of vision, as well as advocates for innovation and change, make vital and noticeable

commitments to new initiatives. Finally, and perhaps most importantly, stakeholders are willing to break down silos and traditional boundaries surrounding their organizational functions to meet common objectives and achieve student success.

Higher education is about higher learning, with learning defined by Schroeder (1998) as a cumulative process that emphasizes application and experience, links established belief to new situations, and incorporates in-depth and frequent feedback on performance. By establishing collaborative partnerships with internal and external constituents, student affairs and academic affairs ought to be able to utilize effective learning approaches to promote various learning outcomes by creating support systems that link, align, and integrate resources, both on and off campus (Schroeder).

Institutional outcomes are retention and increased graduation rates (Upcraft, Gardner, Barefoot & Associates, 2005).

Internal Institutional Collaborations

Gardner (2004) provides suggestions for bridging the gap between academic and student affairs and enhancing those internal partnerships. He asserts that colleges and universities should appoint faculty members to student affairs campus committees, to student organizations as advisors, to ask them to attend student affairs professional conferences, and to teach extended orientation/freshmen seminar courses. Additionally, faculty members and student affairs professionals should co-sponsor academic programs, forums, colloquia, etc, promote social interactions between faculty members and student affairs professionals, and encourage student affairs professionals to assist with faculty research. Furthermore, internal collaborations should be designed to allow faculty

members to play a leading role in the development of residential colleges and living learning environments, share combined office space for functions that integrate both academic and student affairs support services, and request faculty assistance with student affairs programs and evaluations, and vice versa (Gardner).

In addition, the following institutions, also commonly discussed as benchmark institutions for Public State University, established programs and services through internal collaborative efforts to promote campus-wide academic affairs and student affairs partnerships. Auburn University, in an effort to promote academic affairs and student affairs interactions for its students, created a Student Success Center that integrated various campus activities, cross-functional services, and resources that centered on the academic and co-curricular experiences of their undergraduate population. In addition, the internal collaborations between academic and student affairs at Georgia State University, specifically the offices of New Student Programs and Undergraduate Studies, worked together to introduce and register first-year students in over 40 Freshmen Learning Communities. At Georgia State's orientation, a program that facilitates the transition of new students into the academic and social realms of the college environment (Miller, 1999), students enrolled in five common themed courses, and purposefully connected to faculty members, staff members, and current students within the Georgia State University community (FLC Brochure, 2004). The Joint Report (1998), in line with the operationalized definition of collaboration for this study, concludes that such internal collaborations could only exist through intentional crossfunctional dialogues and cooperation.

External Institutional Collaborations

Because of budget cuts and the reallocation of resources, external collaborations play a viable role in colleges and universities identifying first-year experiences that provide early integration activities, community and campus connections and financial resources that yield student retention. In particular, institutions will often align themselves with resources in education sectors external to their institutions (Schroeder, 1998). In addition to persistence, developing external collaborations provides opportunities for the enhancement of undergraduate education, while also highlighting the important role higher education plays with such endeavors as improving public schools. Examples of external partnerships include: federal initiative, the "America Reads Challenge Program," a university-public school collaboration that provides literacy programs to elementary school students, whereby first-year college students provide literacy education to youngsters in their own community. Through this program, college students simultaneously earn their college work study financial aid funds, preventing economic stop-out and ensuring their persistence and graduation (Schroeder). In addition, programs for recruiting and retaining minority students, such as Georgia State University's "Tighter Grip" African American male retention initiative, can also be developed through external collaborations between academic and student affairs administrators, students, and local high schools. Currently, Georgia State's "Tighter Grip" initiative is a collaborative academic and students affairs partnership that works to educate and recruit African American high school juniors and seniors within the Atlanta Public School system to Georgia State University. Schroeder suggest that the aforementioned collaborations, along with a variety of other early recruitment and precollege enhancement programs, substantiate the importance of external collaborations, resulting in increased enrollment and first-year student success at the college and university level.

The educational sector is one avenue for external collaboration; however another is with businesses, corporations, and government, which is one of the most challenging trends confronting higher education – the lack of service to the local community and states (Schroeder, 1998). Nonetheless, Schroeder offers a glimpse of hope, highlighting some institutions, partnerships between student affairs; and academic affairs, particularly social science faculty members (i.e., psychologists, sociologists, and anthropologists) have researched community needs and used the data to design service learning initiatives to address those needs. Schroeder also encourages external community-institution collaborations through student organizations and academic student councils with community agencies such as the Red Cross, Big Brothers-Big Sisters, and the United Way in order to connect undergraduate students with real life community issues and concerns. In the process, these connections will help students become aware of civic leadership and promote community development.

Moreover, such external collaborations between higher education and local businesses, government, and state agencies have produced university and community conferences that promote alcohol awareness and address societal problems such as binge drinking by college students. These initiatives help create a sense of collective community responsibility by emphasizing the importance of societal concerns to the entire community. Be they internal or external, all of the aforementioned collaborative descriptors reemphasize the importance of this study on academic and student affairs

collaborative partnerships and the importance of the intentionality of those partnerships (Schroeder, 1998).

Public State University

Public State University (PSU) was singled out by <u>U.S. News & World Report</u> in 2004 as one of America's best colleges shown to enhance learning. More specifically, Public State University's First-Year Experience program was nationally named one of the best academic programs leading to student success. PSU who? Public State University is located in Georgia, just 20 miles north of Atlanta, the capital of Georgia. It is a public university in the University System of Georgia, chartered in 1963. In 2002, Public State University opened the doors of its first residential housing facility shifting the campus environment to include not only commuter students, but also residential students. PSU now serves approximately 20,000 residential and commuter students and is looked upon as a valued resource of Georgia's Northwest region's educational, economic, social and cultural development (PSU Fact Book, 2004).

Public State University's core institutional priorities are teaching and learning, with service and research paramount in strengthening those priorities, much so that during hiring processes for faculty members and staff members, the university emphasizes its interest in candidates that are committed to fostering quality academic training, cognitive development, and diversity, as well as develop communication, interpersonal, leadership and social skills, while supporting the desire for lifelong learning. The mission of Public State University aligns with other University System of Georgia schools: to have a supportive campus environment that educates the whole

person whether student, faculty members, or staff members; to embody the ideals of an open, democratic, and diverse society; to be technologically advanced; and to form collaborative relationships with other System institutions, as well as with the State and local communities (PSU Fact Book, 2004).

In 1981, the first woman president of PSU was hired in the University System of Georgia. Under her direction, in 1983 the first freshmen seminar on campus, known at the time as PC 101 offered 9 sections with a student enrollment of 104. Since that time Public State University has gone through several names for the first-year seminar course: PC 101, PSC 101, PSU 101 and currently PSU 1101 (PSU Fact Book, 2004). Faculty members and administrators suggest that the changing of the course numbers for the first-year seminar mirrors the successful progression of the institution and its first year program, for which the core mission remains constant – to foster student success.

Therefore, staying true to the progression of change, by 2004, Public State offered 46 sections of PSU 1101 seminar courses; 37 more than in 1983 and enrolled approximately 1000 students, 896 more than the charter or first enrolled class (PSU Fact Book, 2004).

PSU First-Year Collaborations

In efforts to meet the demands of the Dimensions Statement #2, in 2004, PSU's taskforce, which consisted of 17 faculty members, staff members and administrators from both academic affairs and student affairs, summarized all campus-wide efforts designed to enhance a student's first-year experience. The campus-wide programs include the Communities for Learning Success (CLASS) program, which provides living learning communities for students living in the residence halls. CLASS is an academic program

that is supported by the Department of University Studies (a unit within the Office of the Dean of Undergraduate Studies), the Office of the Vice President of Academic Affairs, the Counseling, Advising Program Services (CAPS) Center, and Student Enrollment Services (Student Affairs and Residence Life). As an integral part of this study, it is important to note here that the Department of University Studies, as of 2005, underwent a name change and is now known as University College, positioning itself as the university's 7th academic college. Additionally,

building upon the existing structure of the Office of the Dean of Undergraduate Studies and University Studies involves the coordination of leadership for General Education, CLASS, Learning Support and Supplemental Instruction, ESL, Honors Program, as well as integrated programs for the First Year, Sophomore Year, and Senior Year Experience" (see Figure 1).

Other first-year student activities and retention efforts which are housed primarily with student affairs include the development of CAPS; the Career Services Center (CSC) on-line career portfolio; and Student Life Center (SLC) programs, such as New Student Orientation. Additional student affairs programs include an Activities Fair, Week of Welcome (WOW), "Bust Your Rut" co-curricular resource fair, the development of the Student Development Center (SDC), the opening of campus residence halls, PSU Place and University Place, and the CAPS and Career Center joint Majors Fair (PSU Foundations Task Force Report, 2004).

Housed specifically under Academic Affairs, the home of University Studies, the PSU task force outlined the following Dimensions Statement #2 retention efforts: CLASS, the PSU 1101 First-Year Seminar, the First-Year honors student program, Learning Support and English as a Second Language (ESL) program. The retention efforts as outlined by the PSU task force also included a comprehensive General

Education program, such as the PSU 1101 course including a diversity and internationalization component with <u>The Diary of Anne Frank</u> as a common reader, a built in community based learning experience, and interdisciplinary learning; as well as academic department course offerings tailored to first-year students, such as Biology, Business, and Human Services (PSU Foundations Task Force Report, 2004).

The Foundational Dimensions Statement #2 emphasizes that a coherent or sound first-year experience is attained and sustained through successful collaborative partnerships among academic affairs, student affairs and other administrative units (PSU Foundations Task Force Report, 2004). Therefore, this study examines PSU's first-year experience collaborative partnerships to provide understanding of what ways these collaborative partnerships work or do not work in attempting to achieve the goal of a sound and reliable first-year program.

In keeping with a climate of growth and in keeping with a century old higher education practice to develop committees to meet institutional goals (Veysey, 1965), Public State University in spring 2005 developed two collaborative committees, the University College Advisory Committee (UCAC) established by the Vice President of Academic Affairs, and the First-Year Orientation and Advising Committee (FYOAC) established by the University Studies Department Chair and the Director of CAPS to enhance its First-Year Experience program. Both committees were established as advisory committees to make recommendations for policies and implementation strategies to the PSU administration, particularly the Vice President of Academic Affairs and the Dean of University College. Thus, the two committees are the vehicles which

this study identifies as examples of what collaborations looks like in a First-Year Experience program of excellence.

UCAC is the advisory council to the University College (UC), which is the academic home for undecided students who have not yet declared an academic major. The University College is the place, established in 2006, on campus where:

faculty members who teach General Education, Honors, First-Year Experience, and Learning-Community classes, along with other units throughout campus, come together to provide support for projects related to interdisciplinary programs, faculty advising, supplemental instruction, pre-college outreach, and other issues as needed. The University College supports concerns that most impact student academic success throughout the undergraduate experience. The University College is the home for the proposed undergraduate degree in interdisciplinary studies, and it may house other select interdisciplinary academic programs (UC Memorandum, 2005).

UCAC, after aiding in the establishment of University College, outlined and summarized its accomplishments in regard to the Vice President's initial charge by: 1) setting up regular meetings during the academic year in collaboration with the Dean of University College, and 2) completing a University College mission statement, which reads:

University College is an academic unit offering integrated programs and services to facilitate students' academic success and persistence. The goal of University College is to ensure a seamless and centralized experience for all of our undergraduate students. A primary objective of University College is to pioneer the development of innovative, cross-disciplinary academic opportunities to meet emerging academic needs (UCAC Summary, 2005).

Additionally, UCAC utilized existing PSU 1101 and PSU 1102 learning outcomes as a template for a more discipline specific first-year seminar. Furthermore, the committee went beyond the VP's charge and made a formal recommendation to the Dean to propose a PSU 1101/1102 curriculum. Based on the Dean's prompt affirmative response to the new proposal, it moved quickly through PSU's governance processes and was formally drafted by the UCAC committee chair in 2005. Over the months following the prepared

curriculum draft, it was approved by the Department of University Studies Curriculum Committee, the Chair of the Department of University Studies; the General Education Council, and the Undergraduate Policies and Curriculum Committee (UPCC). "The proposal received a 12-1 vote of approval from UPCC and became a curriculum requirement beginning fall 2005" (UCAC Summary, 2005).

In keeping with this academic focus, UCAC was also charged with drafting an organizational chart of University College and developing a list of possibilities for faculty involvement. However, the UCAC summary states that the committee "chose to only focus on faculty involvement, and thus drafted a set of 'joint appointment guidelines' for faculty members who seek to be jointly appointed in both a discipline-based college and University College" (UCAC Summary, 2005).

As much as UCAC had its successes, it also had its disappointments. UCAC was unable to meet the remaining VP charges, as outlined in the UCAC summary:

Recommend assessment needs, policies, and procedures for the PSU 1101 course, recommend tenure and promotion processes and annual performance evaluation processes for University College regular faculty for the PSU faculty handbook, recommend recognition and rewards for the University College faculty, propose and examine in collaboration with other appropriate academic units undergraduate degree programs that are broadly interdisciplinary.

Focusing now on the First-Year Advising and Orientation Committee (FYOAC), with the support of the Vice President of Academic Affairs and the Vice President of Student Success, FYOAC was established by the Department Chair of University Studies and the Director of the Counseling Advising Program Services Center (CAPS) to ensure that collaboration between University College and Student Success and Enrollment Services (SSES) existed and persisted for the betterment of the First-Year Experience. FYOAC not only reviews policies and procedures concerning orientation and advising,

but it also helps to reinforce the interaction between UC and SSES on other issues associated to first-year students (FYOAC, 2005).

Upon its completion, FYOAC made several recommendations to the Vice President of Academic Affairs and to the Vice President of Student Success and Enrollment Services which included future discussions about making FYOAC a subcommittee of UCAC, and implementing mandatory orientation with marketing materials sent to all students by spring 2006, prior to the implementation. FYOAC recommendations (2005) also included a new academic advising structure for students attending in fall 2005 with the new advising structure comprised of:

1) pre-advising sessions for exploratory students in small groups of 20 students, and 2) a consistent, trained set of academic advisors for each of the seven groups of advisees at orientation that will include two orientation leaders, two faculty/staff from the appropriate college, and one faculty representative from University College.

The seven groups of advisees included:

- 1) Exploratory students,
- 2) learning support,
- 3) College of the Arts,
- 4) College of Humanities & Social Sciences,
- 5) College of Education,
- 6) College of Science & Math,
- 7) Wellstar College of Health & Human Services, and
- 8) School of Business.

The final two FYOAC recommendations (2005) centered on the organization of new student orientation and the three part process of mandatory academic advising of first-year students. In reference to organizing orientation, the committee asked for a stronger academic component to ensure that the PSU1101/1102 requirements and University College and Student Success and Enrollment Services initiatives, such as mandatory

advisement be given the needed consideration and explanation. The three part process for mandatory advising of new students includes:

The first point of contact between a student and his University College/CAPS Center advisor will occur during New Student Orientation. The second point of contact will occur during the first half of his first semester in either his PSU 1101 class, one of his out-of-class activities within his learning community, or a mandated appointment in the CAPS Center. The final point of contact will occur during his second semester to ensure the student is ready to declare a major or at least meet with an academic advisor in the discipline he is most likely to choose as his major. This meeting between the discipline-based advisor and the student will be coordinated by the University College/CAPS Center advisor to ensure the student does not get lost in the system (Appendix B).

Additionally, if by the end of a student's first year, he or she is still undecided about his or her major, the CAPS Center will continue to individually advise the student.

And finally, FYOAC recommended that the Vice President of Academic Affairs and the Vice President of Student Success and Enrollment Services make a formal, but joint announcement to the campus community concerning mandatory orientation and mandatory academic advising for all first-time, full-time students (FYOAC Recommendations, 2005).

Summary

In an attempt to look at the committee collaborations of a First-Year Program of Excellence, a thorough review of literature was conducted. The literature review provides a historical perspective of first-year programs including the first-year seminar and learning communities, in addition to reviewing literature on collaborations, which is imperative to this study. Such efforts as internal and external collaborations as well as obstacles and opportunities for academic and student affairs collaborations were also reviewed. Moreover, as this study delves into the first-year practices of Public State University as a founding institution of the Foundations of Excellence and the

Foundational Dimensions statements, the latter part of this chapter provides historical background on PSU's institutional type, successes, growth, as well as past and existing collaborations.

CHAPTER 3

METHOD

Due to its ability to help the researcher to concentrate on holistic description and analysis of a single unit or bounded system, a qualitative case study is the most effective method of study for this research (Merriam, 1998). It is also the most preferred method for this research because of the type of questions asked, and because I, as the investigator have very little control over the events, and because the focus of the study is on a contemporary phenomenon within a current context (Yin, 2003). Furthermore, the case study is a mode of inquiry that helps to understand and explain the meaning of a social phenomenon, such as committee activity, with as little disruption of the natural setting as possible. Case studies often use interviews, whether structured formally or semiformally, and through observation of behaviors, such as with this study of committee meetings. Structured formal interviews follow a rigid series of predetermined questions, whereas semi-structured interviews do not. The advantage of two practices is that they allow options of flexibility and opportunity for informal dialogue between the interviewer and interviewee, as well as allow the interviewer, after establishing a sense of trust with participants, to obtain information from the subjects that they might otherwise be reluctant to share (Jaeger, 1997).

In general, case studies do not claim any particular method for data collection, however interviews, observations, and institutional documentation are the usual sources of data collection, thus, they have been utilized for this study as well (Merriam, 1998).

As the researcher, I prefer the aforementioned mechanisms of data collection versus impersonal surveys or questionnaires for this study. As a result, subject observations, interviews, and documentation afford the opportunity to analyze data, and in this case, for storytelling, discovery, and interpretation versus hypothesis testing, as well as the holistic ability to capture a concept (Merriam). However, it must be noted that observations played a small part in this study. Although the attempt was made to gather information from committee observations, the attempt proved to be unsuccessful. Unfortunately, this study took place during the ending of a semester and during the summer when committees were completing their work. Therefore committee meetings were either not held or only resulted in one actual meeting taking place. One committee, FYOAC, never met during the time of this study; therefore information was unable to be obtained through committee observations. Additionally, the UCAC met only once during this study, and when observing the meeting and making an audio recording of it, the recording was inaudible therefore yielded little to no viable results. However, because case studies are not limited to one type of data collection, the research still yielded usable results due the note taking during the meeting and due to the use of interviews and other relevant documents.

This particular study takes a qualitative look at the academic affairs and student affairs collaboration for the first-year experience. The research is bounded by the use of formal FYE interviews with questions for Public State's academic affairs administrators and faculty as well as student affairs administrators and staff that partner and serve as chairs, and co-chairs of the Firs-Year Orientation and Advising Committee and the University College Advisory Council. Furthermore, key committee members from

FYOAC and UCAC were also interviewed as I identified them through committee chair discussions and documentation analysis.

Interview Questions

The questions asked during this study were based on the rubric below which is grounded in academic and student affairs collaboration literature. The literature provides characteristics that make for "good" collaborations, and the rubric was used to do university committee observations and subject interviews. Utilizing the rubric as a survey tool and guideline for asking questions, answers were obtained through coding and active listening.

Figure 2. Rubric.

- 1) Why were you selected to serve on this committee?
- 2) What are your roles in the first-year experience?
- 3) As I understand it, the University set up this committee to implement collaboration: how would you define collaboration within the committee?
- 4) If any shared decision making or shared risk taking is taking place within the committee, do you see this as collaboration? If yes, please explain, if no, what would you call it?
- 5) What sort of commitment is involved in the Advising & Orientation program/University College?
- 6) What are some of the goals and objectives in the Advising & Orientation program/University College?
- 7) Are there mutually agreed upon objectives? What are they?
- 8) Are the mutually agreed upon objectives supported through aligned human, fiscal, and physical resources? If so, explain and if not, does that cause you concern?
- 9) Is there a philosophical agreement on goals and objectives from all participants? If yes, what is the philosophy? If not, what are the different philosophies?

- 10) Do you view yourselves as invested co-creators, generating something new and innovative for the FYE?
- 11) Is this collaboration a result of a shift whereby problems and opportunities are viewed through different lenses?
- 12) Are there stakeholders that have the same vision of issues of importance perceived to be better addressed through collaboration? If yes, what is the vision? What are the issues? If no, what is the vision? What are the issues?
- 13) Do you think there was felt university need for this collaboration? If yes, how has it been expressed?
- 14) Are there vital and noticeable commitments to new initiatives and change from senior administrators with a strong sense of vision? If so, what are the commitments? What is the vision?
- 15) Do you see this collaboration as a long term venture? (Probe for meaning of long term venture.)
- 16) Are stakeholders willing to break down traditional boundaries surrounding their organizational functions to meet common objectives and achieve student success? If so, what boundaries are being broken down? Which ones remain?

Data Collection

In addition to observations and personal interviews as mentioned in this methods section, primary resources were used to collect data by reviewing PSU's Foundations of Excellence documents as well as committee and administrative notes and e-mails (see Appendixes A, B, C, and D for FYOAC agenda and recommendations, and UCAC minutes and summary). As the Foundational Dimensions statements constitute the model that provides AASCU Institutions, including Public State, with a means to evaluate and improve their first-year student experience, as anticipated, the documents illuminated the intricacies and the intentionality of forming collaborative partnerships. Furthermore, the information gathered provides insight on the complexities of utilizing the skills and

capabilities of both academic affairs and student affairs educators, as well as illustrates any changes the institution may have undergone, funding activities and efforts, and correspondence with Deans and/or Vice Presidents.

Additional data was collected from national publications, such as the <u>U.S. News and World Report</u> in recognition of PSU as an institution of excellence for first-year programs. The purpose here was to collect general information about Public State University, the campus climate in regards to the FYOAC and UCAC, and the local and national progress of PSU's First Year Experience program. And finally, secondary resources were used to investigate the nature of academic affairs and student affairs partnerships for first year excellence, such as scholarly literature defining and discussing First-Year Experience, institutional roles and responsibilities of academic affairs and student affairs, and literature discussing the details of collaboration.

Data Analysis

Data analysis in qualitative research occurs simultaneously with data collection (Merriam, 1998). As the researcher and instrument of data collection in this particular study, because of my current and prior work experience, there has been the opportunity to relate to both the student affairs perspective and the faculty perspective of the subjects interviewed and observed. As such, there was a comfortable familiarity to the process and not too difficult of an experience separating the phenomenon from the context; however, it is important to note that what was observed and written about was highly dependent on the following five conditions:

- the research itself the romanticism of going native or doing what is inherent because of researchers familiarity with the subject (Merriam) and in my case, academic affairs and student affairs partnerships within the first-year experience;
- 2) researcher personality biases and occupation(s);
- 3) the various events and group dynamics that can occur during the fieldwork;
- 4) the researcher's ability to categorize, analyze, write and portray with accuracy the voices of interview subjects, the academic affairs and student affairs educators;
- 5) and giving continuous thought to the dissemination of information, given the uncertainties of an unknown environment and understanding that the fieldwork was emergent, ever changing and developing (Merriam, 1998).

As a past student affairs administrator, the assumption that I would share commonalities and thoughts of those interviewed, for example that faculty members are too rigid and do not necessarily understand the curricular and co-curricular experience or development of first-year students, which as a result could separate me from the faculty perspective, was incorrect. It was a pleasant surprise to find that because of their roles working with first-year students, that participating faculty members not only accepted the notion and value of the co-curricular experience, but were also advocates of it. Additionally, as a current faculty member within PSU's Department of University Studies, there was also the assumption that the faculty perspective on collaboration and even the stereotypical criticism that student affairs is too "touchy feely" or activity-based for academic rigor to take place was also an incorrect assumption. In reality, because of the nature of all their faculty member positions, either full-time or part-time, they were all very appreciative of the activities provided by student affairs and utilized some of those programs in their

classroom discussions. Realizing the dichotomy or bipolar positions that I could encounter as the researcher, did prepare me and provide me, however, with an understanding for both the academic and student affairs areas. Additionally, having both backgrounds also provided familiarity and comfort to me as the interviewer, which through nods, smiles and statements such as, "well, you understand" from participants proved that they too seemed at ease during the discussions, which I felt helped secure more thoughtful discussions, thus strengthening my connection with both and enhancing my role as data collector. In addition because of my background in student affairs and my current faculty position, I believe I was also more sensitive to the potential student affairs "touchy feely" or faculty member rigidity assumptions that might hinder my collection and analysis of data. As a result, as anticipated, this study provides indeed a first-hand account of the First-Year Experience committee collaborations at Public State University, therefore offering insight and recommendations to PSU's Foundations of Excellence initiatives, as well as offers a comprehensive, integrated approach to a student's first-year experience (Barefoot, 2004).

With informed consent (see Appendix F for consent form) of both the committee chairs/co-chairs as well as the committee members of both the First-Year Advising and Orientation Committee and the University College Advisory Council, I audio taped one University College Advisory Council committee meeting, which proved to be inaudible. I therefore relied on field notes, as well as audio taped individual interviews of both committees and incorporated them into a system for collecting, storing, and retrieving data (Fontana & Frey, 1994; Humberman & Miles, 1994). During the interviews, I asked questions according to the rubric; as the answers were given, I listened intently trying to

identify, as well as assess, what was being verbalized. This ongoing data analysis influenced the decisions about the direction of the interview and dictated whether or not to proceed with the next rubric question or to continue in the direction generated by the participants' answer(s) (Seidman, 1998), both of which was done in order to be true to the emergent or developing data and qualitative inquiry.

The next phase of analysis occurred as I transcribed the taped interviews and the UCAC meeting. As I remained open to the emerging data, I listened intently to the words, voices, tones, sounds, and even pauses made by participants in hopes to pick up on repetitious remarks, patterns, or themes. Throughout each phase of the research, there was constant comparing and highlighting of participant answers in order to fully analyze and code the data (DeVault, 1999; Seidman, 1998). This comparison of answers includes separating the pieces of data, synthesizing them in new and meaningful ways, and deciding what information was useful for learning more about PSU's committee collaboration experiences (Bogdan & Biklen, 1998). This constant comparison technique ultimately lead to 5 categories to explore and 2 overreaching themes to compare with the data that emerged throughout the interviewing process, and while the categories and themes are not the actual data, they are the abstractions derived from the data (Merriam, 1998). Additionally, in hopes of getting the most accurate information and data, at the end of the observation and interview process and transcribing of observation and interview audiotapes, I offered participants the opportunity to review the transcripts for which they were involved (Creswell, 1998). Participants were pleased to be asked; all declined to review the transcripts but offered great enthusiasm for reading the findings and final document.

Finally, understanding that the process of analysis is largely intuitive (Merriam, 1998), I made personal notes to myself on observed participant behaviors that better informed the words recorded on tape. In addition, I also recorded and made notes on separate note pages and the margins of the rubric about my thoughts and responses as I observed and interviewed. This method of personal note taking perhaps helped me to concentrate more on the participant answers rather than on my preconceived assumptions, as well as decreased my anxiety about remembering my thoughts throughout this process. As this research study and analysis concluded, I was able to speculate without apprehension the results of this study, for the purposes of this research, as well as for future research on this subject matter (Bogdan and Biklen, 1998). I was also able to make meaning of the findings from interviews, observations, interactions, and documentations so that those reading this study can be well informed about Public State's collaboration practices as a school of excellence for its First-Year Experience program, and more specifically deepen the reader's understanding of the issues and results of PSU's academic and student affairs' committee collaborations, as well as draw implications for best practices (Bogdan and Biklen, 1998).

Summary

This study utilizes case study as a mode of inquiry to help understand and explain the mean of a social phenomenon such as committee collaborations, with as little disruption to the natural setting as possible. Although this study is bounded by PSU's FYE program, through the use of interviews, I was still afforded the flexibility and opportunity for informal dialogue between the interviewer and subjects. This chapter

included a discussion of the research instrument, a rubric of 16 questions grounded in collaboration literature on characteristics enhancing collaborations; data gathering procedures, and an analysis of the data. The next chapter will examine the results of this study, first-year experience collaborations among academic and student affairs, and look at the impact of the results on the study institution, as well as other Foundations of Excellence Institutions

CHAPTER 4

RESULTS

This chapter discusses the findings and the impact of the findings of this research on Public State University, and how they are perhaps generalizable to other similar Foundations of Excellence institutions. This research may also have an impact on the Foundations project itself, as a measurement model and tool showing how other colleges and universities can create similar organizational structures, policies, and more specifically academic and student affairs committees that provide an intentional comprehensive and collaborative approach to a student's first-year experience.

Description of Participants

Given that this study sought to identify committee collaborations for first-year experience programming, it was essential to identify the two target committees. The target committees were the First-Year Orientation and Advising Committee (FYOAC) and the University College Advisory Council (UCAC). Interview participants for the First-Year Orientation and Advising committee consisted of 1 Caucasian female, the Department Chair of University Studies, as well as co-chair of the committee; 2 Caucasian males, one of whom serves as the Director of the Counseling Advising Program Services Center (CAPS) and co-chair of the FYOAC, while the second white male serves the University as the Director of the Leadership Center within Student Affairs and faculty instructor for the Department of University Studies, in addition to

holding general membership on the FYOAC. The co-chairs of the committee have each served at the institution between 15 and 16 years and have professionally known one another for that length of time as well. The third participant has served at the institution for about 13 years in Student Affairs and just recently received a joint position as a faculty member in the Department of University Studies within the past two years, which is also why he was selected to be interviewed. Of the three interview participants of the First-Year Advising and Orientation committee, the Department Chair holds a PhD degree and the two males hold master's degrees.

The University College Advisory Council interview consisted of 3 participants, 2

Caucasian females and 1 Caucasian male. The first female participant served as chair of the council and has been in her position as Director of the CLASS program for the Department of University Studies for the past 2 years; she has been at the University in a professional capacity for approximately 7 years as a faculty member in the Communication Department. The second female interview participant for the council, the co-chair, has been at the university for approximately 17 years and serves as a faculty member in the College of Science and Mathematics. The third University College Council participant, the male, was the only member of the council from Student Services, which was also why he was selected as an interview participant, has been at the university for approximately 25 years and currently serves as the University Registrar. Of the three UCAC participants, both women hold PhD degrees, while the third participant, the University Registrar, holds a master's degree.

Open and Axial Coding

Open coding is the part of analysis that pertains specifically to the naming and categorizing of phenomena, such as committee collaborations through close examination of the data. Strauss and Corbin (1990) suggest that during this initial stage of coding, open coding is used to name categories, which are discovered when concepts are compared one against another and appear to pertain to a similar phenomenon. As a result, the concepts are grouped together under a higher order category which is more conceptual. Thus, the coding process for this study took form by first performing a full document analysis, paragraph analysis, and then a line by line analysis to yield the categories. Descriptive categories emerged throughout the coding and were highlighted for distinguishable identification, while actual participant comments were used to provide support for each category.

Strauss and Corbin (1990) define axial coding as a "set of procedures whereby data are put back together in new ways after open coding by making connections (themes) between categories" (p. 96). This is done by utilizing a paradigm model involving conditions, context, actions/interactional strategies, and consequences. Though open and axial coding are distinct analytic procedures, the researcher alternates between the two modes when actually engaged in analysis (p. 98).

During open coding various categories were identified. Some pertain to the specific phenomenon of committee collaborations, what's at work, definitions, and the process. Other categories denote function, strategies, and contributing factors, while others refer to consequences of action/interaction such as factors contributing to success and barriers hindering success and collaboration.

The data in this study emerged into the following 5 broad categories:

Figure 1. Emergent categories.

<u>CATEGORIES</u>	TITLES	
Category 1	Institutional Role	
Category 2		Definition of Collaboration
Category 3		Contributing Factors to Collaboration
Category 4		Barriers Hindering Collaboration
Category 5		Institutionalized Collaboration

Category 1 – Institutional Roles

All six participants were selected by university administrators, which were the Vice President of Academic Affairs (who selected UCAC members), the Department Chair of University Studies and Director of CAPS (who selected FYOAC members). Members of the UCAC (see Appendix D for overall membership list) were initially nominated by the Deans of their departments and selected by the VP of Academic Affairs based on their university role. Members of FYOAC (see Appendix B for overall membership list) were selected by the Department Chair and Director of CAPS also because of their institutional position or role. Additionally, all six participants expressed a sincere interest in the first-year experience of students and felt that their pure interest in the subject matter aided in their selection. The participants of FYOAC described their roles within the institution in the following manner:

Because of my role as the Department Chair of University Studies and this department is uniquely positioned to serve as the home to undeclared students as they come on campus and also serve as gatekeeper for helping students find their appropriate life majors. It is our role to help mentor students and help them be successful at PSU and success being defined as academic social and personal success.

Therefore, because of her role as Department Chair and being "uniquely positioned" as such, she self-selected to organize, coordinate, and chair the First-Year Advising and

Orientation Committee. Another participant, the co-chair, self-selected also because of his role within the university, explains:

Because of my role as the Director of the CAPS center and our role within the office coordinating and running orientation, I along with the Department Chair of University Studies created the First-Year Advising and Orientation Committee, thus also self selected to be co-chair. I've always been involved with University Studies and had a very good relationship with the prior Chair. So, I mean, it's always been there and so it's just a natural progression.

The FYOAC member stated:

Because of my position in Student Services working with student organizations and orientation programs and role with academic affairs with my new role as a faculty member in the Department of University Studies, teaching PSU 1101. Both roles better help to bridge the collaboration, as well as connect the two pieces by talking about the shared experiences.

The participants of UCAC (chair, co-chair, and committee member) described their roles within the institution. The Chair stated:

When the information came down from the Vice President of Academic Affairs' office regarding the development of the UCAC, it stated in his materials that the Department Chair of University Studies, the First Year Experience Director, and the CLASS director would be permanent members of the UCAC. So, I was chosen to serve on the committee solely by my job title. At the first meeting, I was nominated as chair and the UCAC membership voted me in as chair.

The co-chair declared:

Oh, that's an interesting question. I was chosen to serve on the UCAC because of my interest in first-year students and because of my role in the university as Chair of the Undergraduate Curriculum Committee a couple of years ago. As Chair of that committee, I became acquainted with the Dean of University Studies who put together the University College Advisory Counsel, and I believe she put my name forward. And I am not certain, but I think she may have done so because she knew of my interest.

The member of UCAC reported:

The Vice President of Student Success and Enrollment Services asked me to be on the committee and I think for two reasons, one because of my position as University Registrar and secondly in that position, I had worked very closely with

the Department Chair of University Studies and her predecessor, thus my relationship with that department was a deciding factor.

Summary

Category I, presents the various institutional roles of the six participants of the study, the three members of FYOAC, which admittedly were selected based on their unique positions as Department Chair of University Studies, Director of CAPS who is both staff member and faculty member within academic and student affairs. Additionally, the three UCAC members voiced that they too were selected because of their roles as CLASS Director, Chair of Undergraduate Curriculum Committee, and University Registrar. Furthermore, participants stated that they found themselves on their respective committees because of their interest in FYE, as well as due to previous relationships with the Dean, the department, and/or department predecessor.

Category 2 – Definition of Collaboration

When asked to define collaboration there was no single or generalizable definition of collaboration. However, most of the participants did consistently include in their descriptive definitions the following words "messy," "power," "turf," "fear," "relationships," "territorial," and "student success." Participants defined collaboration as the following:

[FYOAC co-chair and Department Head] Collaboration is messy with give and take without guarantee of which one of those two you're going to do – but be willing to do both. For example, we came into this willing to give up some power, thus enabled us to have success with this committee. CAPS knew that we were willing to sort of share our turf and it opened up the doors for very honest and intense collaboration. I think if they felt they had to give up some of their position or power, they would have been less likely to collaborate with us. A lot of collaboration is fear of losing ground on your turf. It is the trust word that I can't underscore enough. Additionally, collaboration is relationships, for

example, had I been a different department chair he might not have been so willing to pull us in and let us into some their turf. The trust and relationship made it be less a turf war.

To clarify turf, the FYOAC co-chair and Department Head defined turf as "faculty resources and defined areas of responsibility such as academic acclamation at orientation rather than in the normal classroom setting."

The FYOAC member stated:

Collaboration is connecting to create a seamless experience of first year students, understanding what students need in order to be successful. This forces us to drop our territorial natures. Collaboration is stop looking at our specific or individual areas and start looking at the process and how the process can work effectively when we begin working closer in alignment and understanding one another. Additionally collaboration is building relationships thereby yielding student success.

The UCAC member defined collaboration as "working together." And the UCAC cochair stated,

Collaboration is letting go of individual power and working together for student success. Collegial – that kind of a term that kind of floats around a lot but it's also, there are personal relationships.

And the UCAC chair emphasized:

Collaboration is bringing together a group of diverse individuals and rather than having them argue solely from the standpoint of what is best for me, what is best for my department, what is best for my college but instead they were saying, let's look at first year students and see what would be best for them.

Although interview participants did not necessarily comment that their specific committee collaborations would yield a long-term venture, the study did support Stein & Short's (2001) concept that collaboration involves commitment on the part of collaborators and a philosophical agreement from all participants. In this case, the philosophical agreement or underlying commitment from the perspective of both the above committees was student success, whether defined as "the well being of students,"

"understanding what's needed for students to be successful," "building relationships for student success," "working together for student success," or as RPG, which is stated by interview participants as a University System of Georgia Board of Regents push to increase retention, progression, and graduation rates. In any case, student success was the ultimate theme, so the members had the commitment, and developed the desired outcome for the two committees to push through silos, turf issues, fear, and power struggles.

As a result of such collaborations, the First Year Advising and Orientation Committee, chaired by the Department Chair of University Studies and the Director of CAPS took on the task of coordinating advisement at PSU's orientation for an institution with newly developed campus housing that resulted in a shift from a traditional commuter campus to a residential campus. This shift meant there would be an increase in the student population, and specifically, new traditional aged students would be attending Kennesaw for the first time. As a result, the University Studies Department Chair expressed her pledge to share faculty hours to participate in the advising and registration process at orientation if CAPS would permit. The Orientation program accepted their participation for student success purposes, and with the understanding as a member of the Foundations of Excellence that as an component of the institution that their intentional partnership would support first year success inside the classroom as faculty members participated, as well as outside the classroom as faculty members participated at orientation. Additionally, this collaboration also ensured both parties, University Studies and Orientation, that each would have a voice in the upcoming University move to create a University College (see Appendix G and H for University College memorandum and

University College FAQ's), a new academic college, where PSU 1101 and PSU 1102 would be a mandatory curriculum requirement (see Appendix D for curriculum requirement) for new students.

Category 3 – Contributing Factors to Collaboration

The results of this study substantiate Schroeder's (1998) suggestions that certain characteristics are present in order for collaboration to occur, in particular, commitment, shared vision, and collaborators viewing themselves as co-creators. Stein & Short (2001) assert that collaboration involves commitment on the part of the collaborators. When discussing commitment, interview participants asserted that the noticeable commitments from their committee involvement were time and the commitment to communicate. For example, the FYOAC co-chair and Department Chair of University Studies stated:

The commitment of time was a huge collaborative move on our part when it came to faculty participating in advising and registration at orientation. The willingness to partner on something that might not carry a lot of weight, in our case with tenure and promotion, was definitely a commitment. But it is having student success as a priority and as a value that made our time commitment worthwhile.

Additionally, the Director of CAPS and FYOAC co-chair declared:

The commitment to be present at the meetings and not just there, but also to be there and be focused on what the conversation is about is also a commitment. So also communication with the fortitude to say what you're thinking and to communicate fear, as well as excitement for what the collaboration can bring. It is important that everything is put on the table and the innuendos or rumors are not there once we leave. Commitment to listen and respect one another and it is those relationships based on respect that I think has really helped us.

The FYOAC member reported:

Well, the commitments amongst the members are, each person on the committee has a responsibility for implementing a part of what we talk about, but understanding that most of the work gets done after the committee meeting. So, when we talk about time commitment, these are people who actually get the work

done and implement decisions. And so, there is a definite time and effort commitment outside of the committee itself.

However, even though all agree that time commitment was important to their committee's existence and more importantly to collaboration, the honest feedback was that individual committee member commitments to attend meetings was not always there, and for some members, individual reasons for attending also varied, again alluding to the messiness of collaboration. The Chair of UCAC commented:

I would say that most of the members were very committed. They were sort of like wow, here we are doing something and we're not really sure what it is and so there is an adventure attached to that. Additionally, a lot of people were hand picked because they are first year advocates, so they were pretty committed. There's a particular department chair that was put on this committee who never showed up I think to a single meeting, maybe one, and could have really cared less about the whole thing. But by and large I would say most of the members showed up to meetings. I mean there were people who were saying if I'm going to be here on a Friday afternoon, I'm going to have my voice heard and I'm going to make a difference in what I'm doing.

Just as the research participants were clear on commitment to time, as well as communication being imperative to committee collaboration, they were just as adamant that there was little commitment in respect to resource allocations. Although they did question whether some of the commitment for attendance was due to faculty members getting release time and paid for their participation on UCAC, there was still very little university commitment in the way of money and physical resources to the committees or their efforts, which will be addressed further in the Barriers to Collaboration section of this study.

Shared Vision

As Schroeder (1998) suggests, shared vision is a characteristic often present in order for collaborations to occur; such is a finding of this research. More specifically there was a vision of issues of importance that were better addressed through collaboration, due to the scope and magnitude of increased enrollment, RPG, and the PSU 1101 curriculum requirement change, as well as a shared philosophy of student success amongst committee members and university administrators. Furthermore, this shared vision of issues of importance as well as general philosophy of the both the UCAC and FYOAC emphasized the holistic approach to student success, for example as the FYOAC committee chair and Department Head stated:

I think all of us want students to come here and be retained and be successful academically, personally and socially, but what are we actually doing beyond the scope of our little circle about this big picture? The University College Advisory Council, a lot of the people on that, I'm sure don't really care a whole lot about the University College but they recognize that the general education sort of investment of their College, and their first-year programs are better served by their participation on this Advisory Council. And I would submit to you that the same thing is true of the collaborations with the CAP center and Orientation. We (Department of University Studies) have historically been co-workers with CAPS, but we've even shifted our focus on their importance and come to very purposefully value their contribution and their knowledge in a way we've not done before. We don't just view CAPS or student affairs as appendages but as a partner. I think we all have the same vision; students coming here, being retained and successful, thus we have to move beyond our little circles – if you are about PSU students you have to care about the big picture and all the different pieces or you'll be stretched to thin. They realize that that's not quite their territory, but by partnering with CAPS we give the students a better chance at accurate information, and a better transition, than by bucking the program.

Additionally, the committee member of FYOAC affirmed:

I think philosophically we are on the same page. I think that philosophically we want students to be successful. I think that is the philosophy that has impacted the way we are working together. The vision is that we are here to create a process by which students can matriculate easier and point to the first-year experience and say this impacted our retention rates, thus student success, which means that

students are actively, happily engaged in their campus community and succeeding academically. All can be addressed through our working together, or being forced together byway of committees and have dialogue and build some type of relationship.

And the UCAC member commented:

I think that our primary vision is how can we make the first-year experience better so that as these student progress from their first year to the second year to the third year that they're getting the most out of college both intellectually, as well as the.... learning that comes outside the classroom.

Additionally, the chair of the UCAC agreed that there was a common philosophy as well as a shared vision, however in her comments; she also shared her frustration about fiscal allocations, for example:

I think if you were to put the Vice Presidents and some of their kind, maybe all the Deans in a room they would all agree that retention of first-year students is vitally important to improving our six-year graduation rates. I think they would also agree that Public University should try to enhance its already well-known first-year programs because they provide a great recruiting tool and it's lovely to be able to have our name listed in <u>U.S. News and World Report</u> and these other sort of things. However, where the rubber meets the road is when you ask Dean X, does all this mean that you would be willing to only see your budget increase by 5% so that the budget for University College, the home of first-year programs, can be increased by 10% because they really need some frontline people who are going to help those first-year students and make a difference in advising and those sorts of things – the answer to this question is where the whole disconnect occurs. But hey, yeah – I think in theory there's a shared vision and philosophy that we've got some problems. We've got to do something about retention, and we've got to do something about graduation.

To further expound upon and emphasize the importance of a shard vision, and being rooted and grounded in a shared philosophy, I must explain what seems to be an opposite occurrence within the committees and that is the committees were very unclear about their specific committee goals. Schroeder (1998) suggests that campuses today are disconnected from common institutional missions, guidelines, purposes, or values. I would submit that from the findings of this study even institutional committees are also

fragmented and segregated from their purpose and goals. All of the participants could identify with what they thought were the goals of their respective committees; however as a collective their goals were quite different from what they perceived the common goals were of their committee. When asked what the goals of FYOAC were, the following responses were given from the co-chairs and committee member:

[Department Chair and FYOAC co-chair] Effective communication is a goal. Communication between student success and academic affairs is the number 1 goal.

[CAPS Director and FYOAC co-chair] We have a very common goal, and the common goal obviously is to make sure the students get serviced and serviced appropriately, make sure they get advised especially in the first-year, and make sure they get a strong foundation wit the 1101s and the 1102 learning communities.

[FYOAC member] I don't know that we've defined it clearly but my assumption is that we are focused on trying to bring the areas of University Studies and the CAP center responsibilities together.

When asked what the goals of UCAC are, the following responses were given from the co-chair and then chair:

Well, we are definitely in flux right now. The committee is an advisory to the Dean but now that our Dean is returning to teaching, we or some of us will be on the recruiting committee for the new Dean. Thus, we will then look to that new Dean for new direction to see where the University College goes from here.

The Vice President composed a two-page document and asked members from the college campus to be a part of UCAC and when we met for the first time he talked about how the Advisor Council in terms of how it was going to be composed and initially the first year were each supposed to get \$500 in professional development funds, and we were supposed to get a one course reassignment. So I mean this was supposed to be heavy duty service work – this cracked me up. They actually put in the charge all members will receive a certificate of appreciation and a University College medallion to wear on their graduation regalia. Yeah, we're still waiting on those. Also, we were given the task to meet some very general goals like recommend assessment needs, policies, and procedures for the PSU 1101 course. Recommend tenure and promotion processes and annual performance evaluation processes for University College faculty and recommend recognition and rewards for the University College faculty. Now none of these things to my knowledge ever happened. However, we did to a lot in the first year

of the committee in regards to curriculum requirements in terms of getting the joint appointment guidelines. We did also develop a mission, vision, and goals for University College. All that was done but everybody still had the question, what is a University College and what are we suppose to do to build one? And there was a sense of well, let's just sort of make it up as we go along. And that's kind of what we did. So the overall goal was to try and figure out what University College was and where it fit into PSU's landscape. So how do you have a goal for a structure that you're not even sure what it is? UCAC was very much a top down decision.

Last, when the UCAC committee member was asked about the goals of UCAC, he responded:

I think that our goals and objectives primarily is to at least originally was to make sure that this college gets up and operating, but now that that has happened, I think that our goals are primarily to make the first-year experience the very best that it can be.

The comments on unclear goals could seem unproductive to collaboration which would add validity to Cohen and March's (1974) assertion that unclear goals often characterize colleges and universities. However, in the case of Public State University' first-year committees the opposite occurred. Rather than being committees that became disconnected because of their inability to agree on common goals, they became stronger and more productive, which speaks to their intense sense of shared vision of student success – a vision and philosophy that began in the early years of the woman president's term with the mission of Kennesaw State and remains still at the forefront of all their decision making processes. So the irony here is that regardless of whether or not members were aware of common goals, effective collaboration still existed because their shared vision of student success remained constant, one of Schroeder's (1998) contributing factors for collaboration and evident by participant responses and repetitiveness throughout this study. It is this shared commitment to student success, as

stated by participants, for example, "we want students to be successful... that is the philosophy that has impacted the way we are working together."

Co-creators

Additionally, the respondents of each of the respective committees did feel as if they were invested co-creators, generating something new and innovative for First-Year Experience. Their responses again supported Schroeder's (1998) characteristics for establishing collaboration. And furthermore, because of this overarching feeling of creating something new, they felt more invested in the collaboration. The participants' responses included: "co-creating eliminates the threat of I'm losing something here and if you co-create you will both be invested and both are creating. Yes, co-creators generating something new which is what drives me to be a part of this committee." Although agreeing with the other respondents on the satisfying feeling of being co-creators, one committee chair felt it was important to bring to the forefront that when doing committee work, one must realize that there is always a core group of committee members that are very dedicated and committed to the cause of the committee and to first-year programming, while at the same time it must be understood that "anytime you have a large group of people working together there is going to be some unevenness in terms of the amount of time and energy people put into the committee, thus different levels of commitment." Yet, overall it is safe to say that the respondents credited their hard work, determination, and even committee success to their ability to see themselves as cocreators generating something new to the first-year experience of students, as evident by a participant response below. For FYOAC something new was the collaboration on

advising at orientation with the CAPS center and faculty members from the Department of University Studies; for the UCAC it was the PSU 1101 and PSU 1102 requirement, as explained by one of the chairs of UCAC:

I think that several people on the UCAC really got excited about the idea of this curriculum proposal that became a requirement. I am thinking like one of the my colleagues in the College of Business who was an incredible advocate for the curriculum proposal and so genuinely enthusiastic – like wow, this is just going to be so great for students and this is really going to make a difference in their experience. It was a new requirement that came from the invested work of the committee that really enhanced the two primary FYE programs that we run on this campus. I mean to go from 30 to 40 sections of PSU 1101 to 66, to go from having somewhere in the mid 30s learning communities to 57. It sort of said we are here, and because we have this opportunity to impact so many students, look at all the great things we as a committee will continue to get to do that we might not have been able to do prior to this collaboration.

Summary

Similar to Schroeder's (1998) claim that certain characteristics are present in order for collaboration to be effective; the participants of this study discussed the contributing factors for their committee collaborations. Participants stated that because of their shared vision of issues of importance, the institutionalized philosophy of student success, and because of their felt involvement in creating something new, the FYOAC and UCAC collaborations were successful.

Category 4 – Barriers Hindering Collaboration

Schroeder (1998) asserts in his discussion of barriers hindering collaboration that "Functional Silos," practices put in place to preserve and promote interactions within functional areas but create obstacles for external areas, are critical issues. Functional Silos are the result of compartmentalization of faculty members, staff members and administrators. These silos, while working in such isolation, can prove to be productive

when relying on the expertise of those involved to effectively carry out tasks within functional teams, however when involving committee collaborations for first-year experience silos become barriers to productivity. The committee members acknowledge the importance of breaking down barriers for effective collaboration, thus when asked if committee members were willing to break down boundaries surrounding organizational functions to meet the common objective of student success the participants responded:

[FYOAC co-chair and Department Head] That's tough. I'll say this as long as they don't feel hugely at risk with their sort of station here. If they feel like they've got a lot to gain and not much to lose they'll play in the sandbox. Orientation is certainly a boundary that has been broken.

[FYOAC member]I think they are to a certain degree. There is so much transition going on at this university with a new president, new Dean of University College it would be unfair to judge them. I think that when there's a state of uncertainty that it's hard to be certain about anything. However, I do think that this uncertainty has pushed us to create further alignments and stronger connections. It is in our best interest to align, because if we have a strong relationship and a strong bond and doing good things, then we're not going to be touched by the new administration that's coming. The test for the committee will be when the new President and dean comes in if we maintain or if new priorities are established and we may have to break and fall because of that. This will tell us if we are truly in this for the philosophical best interest of the student or we then move in different directions because of the focuses of those two people.

[UCAC co-chair] There were certainly wonderful opportunities for some of us to get out of our little worlds, for me, Computer Science and Information Systems, and attend a writing workshop which is pretty foreign to my field in a sense. By doing this, there were some boundaries broken down in the sense of my getting a glimmer of what goes on in another discipline.

[UCAC member] Absolutely! Yeah, boundaries have been broken, that is in the way of establishing relationships both formally and informally. We have never felt inhibited by our organizational structure not to do something. And quite frankly, I personally believe that that's why Public University has been able to enjoy some of the successes we've had. It's because we have been able to do more with less because of the fact that we have been willing to not worry about those traditional boundaries per se of having to go from here to here and back to here. We just go straight across organization boundaries or straight up and I think that that's helped us. We've been able to do a lot because of that freedom of fewer boundaries. Or even though the boundaries exist, we don't feel inhibited by

those boundaries. We work across them or through them or on top of them or whatever.

Committee member and chairs alike agreed that from and through their collaborative efforts, boundaries had been broken and broken to meet what Schroeder (1998) suggests as common objectives to achieve student success. However, they also admitted that there were boundaries that remained, and still needed to come down, specifically as the territorial issues and silos involved financial resources, fiscal allocations, and different institutional budget expectations and rewards for faculty and student affairs professionals. Particularly, when asked if there were mutually agreed upon objectives supporting aligned human, fiscal, or physical resources, FYOAC members commented:

[FYOAC co-chair and Department Head] Some are and some aren't, but overall I'd say no. The budget we have to do things for retention, graduation and progression is so small in this department comparatively that we are not supported by dollars.

[FYOAC member] I don't think we could go wrong with having more people. We could also always use the financial resources as a means to better our processes. Physical space is probably the number one biggest problem – we even struggle with reserving space for first year students at orientation. I think we're moving to where we want to be but we're not there yet.

Members of the UCAC echoed the same financial concerns:

[UCAC chair] As an advisory council we were never given any opportunity to look at a budget, to talk about what kinds of faculty or administrative structural needs we might see. There was never any discussion of whether we need a budget manager, nor was there ever any discussion about where is University College going to physically be housed. This is sort of one of the other jokes on campus and it is a valid question. Where is University College? There was no discussion of fiscal. There was no discussion of place or location or any kind of allocation of resources other than jointly appointed faculty.

The member of UCAC answered with some uncertainty:

[UCAC member] That's a tough question, and I don't know that I know the answer for that. I think that physically, in terms of space, I don't think we are there yet. I think we're a long way from there because I think that part of that is just Kennesaw. We are so cramped for space that trying to realign actual people or offices or college space is very difficult. Now in terms of realigning actual people, I think that there's probably still work to do. In terms of budgetary things, I think that those are becoming more in line, but in terms of actually aligning people, reporting structures, there's probably much to be done. And certainly in terms of space there's just no way that they could realign some of that space.

Additionally, the co-chair of UCAC responded in the following manner:

With the start up of the Council there was funding and I think there are still some, but not nearly as much as there were in the first year. We had, each of us on the committee had the option of taking a course reassignment so that we could focus on UCAC and there were also some travel monies. And a number of us went to conferences using that money. I'm not sure that we still have that. As I am answering these questions, I am realizing that I need the answers, but I don't have them.

Participants reflected Schroeder's (1998) suggestion that differences in expectation of rewards are a factor for prohibiting collaborations. And as a result of respondent answers, it is clear that fiscal and physical resources are important factors in committee collaborations, however because of such rewards as reassigned time, and conference travel funds, particularly with UCAC, committee members saw some support from administrators to provide some backing for faculty members and staff collaborative efforts. In regard to administrative support and funding the UCAC chair responded:

I think the VP of Academic Affairs would say giving \$500 in professional development money to each of those faculty members showed a commitment and giving them reassigned time. He use to laugh about no good deed goes unpunished because he got such, he really took a lot of heat over the reassigned part. Even more so than the money, which was kind of funny. I mean he really was criticized at senate. I mean there are huge service commitments on this campus.... And so I think he really felt like he was showing his intense commitment because he was giving resources and he was giving reassign time.

Category 5 - Institutionalized Collaboration

As reported by the joint task force between the American Association for Higher Education, the American College Personnel Association, and the National Association of Student Personnel Administrators (1998), collaboration takes place when a task or charge is too big, too urgent, and too demanding or requires too much knowledge for one person or group to do alone, hence the committee collaboration of FYOAC. FYOAC focused on the collaboration between Academic Affairs, specifically with the Department of University Studies and Student Affairs, CAPS, concerning orientation and advising; and the UCAC collaboration focused on the curriculum requirements for PSU 1101 and PSU 1102 for all first time, full time students with 15 credit hours or less within University College.

Overwhelmingly, respondents agreed that there was a felt university need for their committee collaborations. For example the co-chair of FYOAC commented:

The woman president for years pounded home the importance of the first-year experience but her efforts were only chipping away at it or just the beginning. It wasn't an important value to the university, however until this new institutional requirement and creation of University College. All of which made it more a part of the culture than just talking about it but now it is part of the fabric of the academic requirement.

The FYOAC member exclaimed:

No question, yes there was a felt need! It was expressed very directly by the Vice Presidents that we have got to do something about our retention rates, and graduation rates. Thus, I feel why the committee was formed.

The UCAC member echoed:

I think the university as a whole felt the need for collaboration. I don't think the university as a whole felt that there was need to create a new structure, such as a new college.

And the UCAC chair stated:

A felt need for collaboration, yes, I think that probably is a little closer to the mark. I think because no one had ever heard of anything like University College, people didn't really know what it was. Therefore, it wasn't like anyone came together and said I am so glad they finally put this committee together. However, I do think there are a number of people, from faculty to the Deans who in their hearts get tired of the silos. I think they all think we have got to figure out how to make this experience better for students, especially for those people who teach general education classes. There is a much greater appreciation for the student affairs professional on our campus. So, I think if you took a poll and said if money didn't matter would you like to see a greater sense of collaboration across campus, I think you would get an overwhelmingly yes answer to that.

The participant responses illustrate that Public State University as an institution of higher education is in the midst of profound change. Thus, as an attempt to reform their undergraduate education, there is an intentional institutional priority to integrate academic and student affairs efforts to create a seamless learning environment for a student's first-year experience (Schroeder, 1998), as evident in this memorandum excerpt from the Vice President of Academic Affairs to all Faculty members and staff members concerning University College:

I am pleased to announce the Board of regents recently approved PSU's request to give our Undergraduate and university Studies administrative unit the new name 'University College'... focusing on student success. The Department of University Studies will continue as an academic department in the University College, and new departments will be added as needed. The University College is the academic home for exploratory students who have not yet declared an academic major, and it is a new place to bring together faculty who teach General Education, Honors, First-Year Experience, and Learning Community classes. The University College will work with academic departments and other units throughout campus to provide support for projects related to interdisciplinary programs, faculty advising, supplemental instruction, pre-college outreach, and other issues as needed. The University College will continue to support issues that most impact student academic success throughout the undergraduate experience.

Additionally, as expressed by the Vice President of Academic Affairs and from all participants, the commitment here is to collaboration focusing on student success, not

necessarily to institutional committees' agenda items. When asked whether the committees would be long term ventures as a result of the institutional commitment, there were answers of uncertainty about the committees but positive responses were given when they spoke of continued collaborations overall. Respondents answered in the following manner:

[FYOAC co-chair and Department Head] Yes, I think the collaboration is a long term venture, because whenever you make a decision to have a 7th college and a new major, you've made a commitment to the institution's history and its future. I also think yes to collaboration because it will continue to effect our number of students that return to this institution and that in turn affects our funding. But I think that long term for the committee is to be determined by the next couple of years. If we flounder and don't do any viable work – making only happenstance connections then no as far as long term for the committee. But I say to you, as long as I am chair of this department and have any kind of influence over its strategic mission or plan, it will continue.

The FYOAC committee member responded:

No on the committee, yes on the collaboration because if the relationships are developed and the relationships become stronger there won't be a need for the committee.

FYOAC, focusing on first year advising and orientation and UCAC, focusing on PSU 1101 and PSU 1102 curriculum changes, were both tasks too big and demanding for one person, thus yielding first year committee collaborations. Furthermore, because of the continued university efforts to reform undergraduate education and the institutional commitment to create a 7th college, FYOAC and UCAC committees see collaboration at the university as long term ventures, and an embedded part of the university's culture.

Summary

Through the 5 emergent categories (1) institutional roles, (2) definition of collaboration, (3) collaboration factors, (4) barriers to collaboration, and (5)

institutionalized commitment surfaced the overarching themes for this study, committee collaborations based on relationships and collaborative committees with a common institutionalized philosophy of student success. Administrators, faculty members and staff members at PSU have proven that the disparities and myths of uncooperative working relationships between faculty members and student affairs staff members are truly myths, particularly in PSU's FYE program. Schetlin (1969) asserts that the idea that faculty members are not concerned with their students, that student affairs professionals were derived out of the need to fill the rift between faculty and students, and that the student affairs philosophy is only appreciated by student affairs staff member rather than faculty members are unfounded myths. Schetlin (1969) further states that these are myths that came from ignorance and a lack of historical knowledge on understanding on the parts of both groups. The participants of this study by their responses and examples provide understanding of the working relationships between academic and student affairs. At the same time, the participants show that their collaboration efforts are an ongoing process and through their candidness reveal some of their own perhaps prejudices and stereotypes, such as the following comment by the cochair of FYOAC and Department Head:

Orientation folks realize they could do a better job if they had more faculty input, as for the accuracy of information to students, efficiently because they recognize that students know that a college experience is all about the faculty and the interaction with the faculty and not the counselors. They have a secondary role to play. And I think it is wise for them to continue to be somewhat wary given the shift in administrative top appointments at this point. But I think as long as the VP for Student Affairs stays the same then CAPS will be somewhat protected.

When asked about remaining boundaries, the co-chair of UCAC responded:

Well sure there are some boundaries that remain. There were some people who to the end said you know that this University College is not relevant to me. There were some, yeah. I think there were some specific academic departments who still really aren't on board with the idea of a University College and the idea of addressing first-year students' needs in that fashion. So, sure there are still boundaries.

A UCAC committee chair responded:

I think that the boundaries that need to be broken are probably with faculty members and staff too that don't fully see the value of some of these first-year initiatives that we're trying to take. I think that because we still have certain individuals who have tunnel vision, some in the academic side of the house, some of the professors in the major departments have tunnel vision for only their major. And I think there would certainly be some on the administrative side of the house who as well have tunnel vision only for their little piece of the pie rather than seeing how it fits into the bigger picture. So, yeah, but I also think that philosophically at the senior administration level they're saying that we don't want to let boundaries stay in the way. I think it will just take time for all those to be broken down.

As alluded to in the above response and in previous participant comments, collaboration is "messy" and not without its challenges. And as Gardner (2005) states, collaboration can not be forced but it can be facilitated. Thus, the faculty and staff at PSU have continuously spoken about students and student success and for that reason are willing to involve themselves with such committee collaborations as FYOAC and UCAC. Additionally, the respondents assert and illustrate through their committee collaborations that academic affairs and student affairs both have pertinent roles in retention, progression, and graduation efforts at Public State University that are clearly operationalized through their personal relationships and campus culture. And perhaps, when speaking about collaboration, particularly within the PSU campus culture, the following UCAC member states it best:

It's learning and as people come on board, an example, if a person comes on board and this is what's in place, you kind of believe that that's the structure and that's the way it was and you become part of that culture. Whereas if you were not and you didn't believe in it initially, you may have been resistant, well as

though over time either one, you change, or else you move on. And then as the new people come in, they're embedded into the current structure and the culture.

Furthermore, senior administrators at Public State University, both within Academic Affairs and Student Affairs, have a felt need for student success, thus their work to support committee collaborations speaks to a shift in operation whereby problems and opportunities are viewed through the same lenses – the lens of a common philosophy and the lens of institutionalized collaboration and more specifically on a grass roots level, committee collaborations within and between FYOAC and UCAC.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSION

Summary of Results

This research is specifically grounded in the Foundations of Excellence 2nd

Dimensions Statements, which looks at "organization structures and policies that provide a comprehensive integrated and coordinated approach to the first year" (Foundations of Excellence Report, 2004, p. 8). Therefore, this research observes Public State

University's first-year experience program through academic affairs and student affairs collaborative lenses. Specifically, this study analyzes Public State University's established committees that are engaged in collaboration, the First-Year Orientation and Advising committee (FYOAC) and the University College Advisory committee (UCAC). In doing so, the overarching research question was asked: What do academic and student affairs collaborations look like in a first-year experience program of excellence?

Reiterating the paraphrased words of Lincoln (2004), this research examined what was at work rather than simply what works, revealing the structures, policies, and collaborative behaviors which illustrate, as well as bring understanding to Public State University's first-year efforts.

<u>U.S. News and World Report (2004, 2005, 2006)</u> lists Public State University as one of the top schools in the nation for its first-year program. Simultaneously, in 2006 the <u>U.S. News and World Report</u> listed Public State University as one of only two schools in Georgia known for first-year programming, further supporting the importance

of this study that examines PSU's first-year experience program and more specifically examining the committee collaborations within this nationally recognized first-year program. The issue of collaboration pervades the literature about creating successful first-year experience programs, and the literature provides characteristics that make for successful collaborations. Therefore the interviews were grounded in academic and student affairs collaboration literature and served as a guide for this study.

- 1) Why were you selected to serve on this committee?
- 2) What are your roles in the first-year experience?
- 3) As I understand it, the University set up this committee to implement collaboration: how would you define collaboration within the committee?
- 4) If any shared decision making or shared risk taking is taking place within the committee, do you see this as collaboration? If yes, please explain, if no, what would you call it?
- 5) What sort of commitment is involved in the Advising & Orientation program/University College?
- 6) What are some of the goals and objectives in the Advising & Orientation program/University College?
- 7) Are there mutually agreed upon objectives? What are they?
- 8) Are the mutually agreed upon objectives supported through aligned human, fiscal and physical resources? If so, explain and if not does that cause you concern?
- 9) Is there a philosophical agreement on goals and objectives from all participants? If yes, what is the philosophy? If not, what are the different philosophies?
- 10) Do you view yourselves as invested co-creators, generating something new and innovative for the FYE?
- 11) Is this collaboration a result of a shift whereby problems and opportunities are viewed through different lenses?
- 12) Are there stakeholders that have the same vision of issues of importance perceived to be better addressed through collaboration? If yes, what is the vision? What are the issues? If no, what is the vision? What are the issues?

- 13) Do you think there was felt university need for this collaboration? If yes, how has it been expressed?
- 14) Are there vital and noticeable commitments to new initiatives and change from senior administrators with a strong sense of vision? If so, what are the commitments? What is the vision?
- 15) Do you see this collaboration as a long term venture? (Probe for meaning of long term venture)
- 16) Are stakeholders willing to break down traditional boundaries surrounding their organizational functions to meet common objectives and achieve student success? If so, what boundaries are being broken down? Which ones remain?

The data from this research were organized into five categories under which each word, phrase, or passages was classified. Open and axial coding were used to ultimately determine the categories. The categories were: Institutional Role, Definition of Collaboration, Contributing Factors for Collaboration, Barriers Hindering Collaboration, and Institutionalized Collaboration.

The final state of analysis in qualitative research is selective coding. During this stage themes emerged and a story line was developed. Two sets of themes emerged in this study. One theme centered on the connectivity of campus and personal relationships to collaboration and the second theme centered on a common or institutionalized philosophy of student success.

All of the participants, within the First-Year Orientation and Advising Committee and within the University College Council, identified relationships which ultimately yielded trust as a key factor in their committee collaborations. The FYOAC committee chair and Department Head stressed that collaboration is a process, and a messy process. She further explained: "messy means you can't go one, two, three, four, this is how it's going to work… you are going to make mistakes, but once you've built a level of trust, you are

allowed a few missteps." In paraphrasing the subjects' responses, the relationship is of the utmost importance, particularly as mistakes are made, because it is then that allowances for the mistake are made and the collaboration is able to continue. To further make her point about trusting relationships the same FYOAC co-chair asserts:

I can pick up the phone and say, that didn't go exactly how I thought it would, and I am sorry about that, but let's start again. And he's going to cut me some slack because of that preceding foundation of trust.

You have to earn it over time. And that's the unknown factor. You have to earn it over time. So, when you hire a new person, they don't automatically come in with the trust factor, they have to earn it.

All participants had been employees at Public State for 10 years or more and in that time had previously worked with one another in one capacity or another or had been made aware of the other through another trusting colleague relationship, even if that colleague had since moved on from the institution – their opinion was still valued and revered. In speaking with the participants all made mention of prior working relationships of previous colleague connections, along with their job titles, as to why they collaborated and some participants credited prior relationships to why they were selected to serve on their respective committees. For example, the co-chair of UCAC commented:

I became acquainted with the Dean of Undergraduate Studies through my role in the university, the Undergraduate Curriculum Committee. I was chair of the Undergraduate Curriculum a couple of years ago, and I became acquainted with her and those two things just kind of dovetailed. And so, I think when they put together the University College Advisory Counsel, the Dean may have been the one who put my name forward.

The Director of CAPS and co-chair of FYOAC responded:

I've been here 16 years and I've always been involved with University Studies, back when it was called Learning Support. Back when the only thing that was there was PSU 1101 and learning support courses. So, I've always been involved with it, had a very good relationship with the Dean and prior to that the chair of that department.

The UCAC chair explained:

At the first meeting we took nominations for both chair and chair elect. And a colleague who was at the time a faculty member in the Department of Communications [now a faculty member and colleague in the Department of University studies], nominated me as chair and the UCAC membership voted me in as chair.

And the UCAC member stated:

And I think the reason that I was asked to serve as primarily for two reasons. Being the registrar I had worked closely with the Department Chair of University Studies, and her predecessor, who also was the Dean of Undergraduate Education... I originally worked with the Dean and the current University Studies Department Chair on two major projects... but I had worked with the Dean and the current Department chair on setting up how we register students in learning communities.

It became very apparent through discussions that it was indeed developed relationships, whether through previous connections or current, that shaped the foundation for collaboration. Interestingly enough, because of the length of employment of all involved, relationship building was not an issue, thus collaboration was successful – again, not because it was a smooth process, quite the contrary, but because the committee members involved had a prior connection and trusted that each had the other's best interest in mind when dealing with such barriers to collaboration as boundaries, silos, and financial and physical resources.

Three of the participants involved in this study, based on job responsibilities, reside in Academic Affairs, while three of the participants based on primary job responsibilities reside in Student Affairs. However, unlike the academic/student affairs myths that were perpetuated because of incorrect perceptions and lack of knowledge about each other's job, the origin of student affairs and even the alienating jargon discussed by Schetlin (1969) they all, when performing work related task and more

specifically when performing their committee responsibilities, had the same working philosophy, student success.

Student success was defined by committee members as the academic, personal, and social development of students. Student success was also defined as students making connections with the university, their peers, faculty members, staff members, and campus resources. Student success, by all accounts from FYOAC and UCAC, is a holistic approach to meeting students' needs and creating a seamless environment for them to make connections for their success.

Additionally, according to the committee members, the institution defined student success in much the same way; however, the university took its definition from the State of Georgia higher educational governing body, the Board of Regents, and defined student success in the terms of retention, progression, and graduation rates. All of the research respondents while taking part in their committee work were somewhat aware of the possible encompassing responsibilities surrounding retention, progression, and graduation; however none of them, when asked about the goals of their committees, could provide a common set of goals for their committee. Some responded that the goals of their respective committee was goal setting; some stated that the goal was to develop a seamless environment known as University College, while another thought the common goal of their committee was to secure a strong first-year curriculum foundation. As a result of their inability to articulate common goals for either committee, it might appear that because of these unclear goals that any collaborative efforts by UCAC or FYOAC would have failed. However, quite the contrary occurred.

Instead, because of trusting relationships and a common philosophy of student success from committee participants and from the institution, the committee collaborations were successful. As a result of the First-Year Orientation and Advising Committee collaborations, the Department of University Studies and CAPS successfully partnered at orientation, with University Studies faculty members who are committed to helping new students adjust to PSU, assisting with academic advisement at New Student Orientation (see Appendix I for faculty advising script at orientation). As a result, based on New Student Orientation Evaluations for fall 2005 (see Appendix J) and fall 2006 (see appendix K) all agreed that students received the appropriate academic advising. The evaluations showed that in fall 2005, 95% of first year students indicated they were satisfied with the advising information received, while 94% stated they understood PSU's registration process and 95% stated they were satisfied with their class schedules. Additionally, the fall 2006 evaluations showed that 92.92% of the first year students were satisfied with the advising information they received, while 93.08% indicated they understood the PSU registration process as well.

Additionally, the University College Advisory Council was successful in its collaborative efforts in that it met some of the charges set forth by the Vice President of Academic Affairs (see Appendix D for charges within the UCAC summary) such as developing a mission statement that reads:

University College is an academic unit offering integrated programs and services to facilitate students' academic success and persistence. The goal of University College is to ensure a seamless and centralized experience for all of our undergraduate students. A primary objective of University College is to pioneer the development of innovative cross-disciplinary academic opportunities to meet emerging academic needs.

However, most importantly UCAC accomplished the new curriculum change (see Appendix D for 1101/1102 curriculum requirement) requiring all first-time, full-time students with less than 15 credit hours to register for the PSU 1101 First-Year Seminar, and, residential students meeting the same criteria to register for a PSU 1102 Learning Community rather than an independent seminar.

Implications

This study has both practical and theoretical implications. The intention now is to share this research first and foremost with the involved committees, FYOAC and UCAC, and then with Public State University's administration, First-Year Experience faculty members, student affairs staff members and members of the Foundations of Excellence committee in order to enhance their understanding of collaborative partnerships. Additionally, the findings of this research has the potential to broaden the perspective of those involved based on the importance of intentional collaborations while understanding that the process of collaboration can be less than perfect, but still yield an effective outcome for student success. For Public State University, the process was "messy" and not without its own set of problems as well as opportunities. However, the ideal elements of collaboration that prove to be invaluable to PSU's committee collaborations involving FYOAC and UCAC dealt with trusting relationships, whether self established or referred by a trusting colleague, and in alignment with Schroeder's (1998) characteristics of good collaboration, a common philosophy woven throughout committee membership, as well as institutionally. As a result of these findings, it is my hope that this study will give way

to articles for publication in national higher education, academic and student affairs journals, as well as presentations at local, regional and national conferences.

As an academician and former student affairs staff member, I hope that this study challenges current assumptions and perspectives about what collaboration means and how collaborative partnerships are entered into and defined. This research shifts paradigms and theoretical notions of academic and student affairs work. It challenges both professions to embrace the philosophy of collaborative partnerships to enhance a student's first-year experience by design. This philosophy is based, of course, on the assumption that optimal student learning cannot take place if the central institutional components involved in the first-year experience are separated from one another by structure and or by commitments (Kuh, 1996). Hence, this study on partnerships among academic and student affairs at Public State University, a first-year experience has made for a worthy investigation, and has proved to be in line with Veysey (1965) who states that by establishing committees to meet institutional goals, that Public State University is keeping with the climate of growth and with a century-old higher education practice to develop committees to meet institutional goals. And even more specifically in the case of Public State, and clearly throughout this study of committee collaborations, the institutional goal is student success which begins with PSU's first year student in their first-year program of excellence.

It is important to note that historically, student success is not a new phenomenon for Public State, but a model deeply rooted in Public State University history. The legitimacy of student success at this southern institution goes back twenty-five years with the inauguration of its first female president, whose platform and institutional mission

embodied student success. This was evident and echoed in her ability to establish the first-year seminar at the onset of her term as president and although it has evolved tremendously, the first-year seminar and now first-year experience program with the underpinning of student success has permeated and left an indelible mark on the culture of the institution. Culture, according to Kuh & Whitt (1988) is unique to every organization and includes the norms, values, practices, beliefs, and assumptions that guide behaviors and provide a frame of reference for individuals within an organization (institution). Culture shapes the institution socializes its leaders and laypersons, and maintains stability within the institution. Culture develops over a long period of time and is usually very resistant to change. Hence the unchanging phenomenon of culture, continuity, consistency and comfort at Public State University ultimately illuminates a flaw in the literature on collaboration.

Schroeder's (1998) characteristics of collaboration certainly speaks to established trust and trusting relationships, however, what Schroeder does not address is the impact of culture on those trusting relationships and the comfort that such cultural influence has brought to those that serve at institutional levels, such as Public State. As with the second president at PSU, those employed at Public remain employed consecutive years and are known fondly by their female president as "long marchers," which can be applied to the concept of marching long in the commitment of student success that started in the early 1980s and has successfully continued through to 2006. With that in mind, it is fair to also argue that because there has been such consistency with the philosophy of student success, as well as with long-term employment of employees, that the environment and the culture of PSU is that of institutionalized comfort and familiarity, hence anything

unfamiliar yields an uncomfortable position of not knowing what to expect, apprehension, lack of trust. For example, as stated by FYOAC co-chair, "when you hire a new person, they don't automatically come in with the trust factor, they have to earn it."

Furthermore, as identified in the literature review, having clear goals was a specified collaboration characteristic for success. However, the study found that with committee collaborations at Public, the clear goal concept of Schroeder's collaboration model was not met which should have yielded committee chaos. Chaos did not occur due to Public's deeply rooted commitment to the philosophy of student success, and because of participants' intense familiarity with one another and the personal relationships that developed and sustained themselves over long periods of time as long as , 15 or 25 years. While this study substantiates that for the most part Schroeder (1998) was on target with his characteristics, it is important to note also that the literature, must also include a more in depth study or recognition of institutional culture and the role it plays in the success of collaboration.

And although the first-year committee collaborations at Public State proved to be successful, it must also be stated that as a newcomer to an institution with such commitment to culture, philosophy, and one another, that those on the outside coming into such an institution may find that such a culture is very difficult to permeate and even individual efforts to permeate may appear threatening to those on the inside, which I will later explain. The concern, moreover for such institutions, is that as people move out of positions through retirement or even death, after having been "long marchers," committee collaborations or collaborations in general might be threatened. As stated by one respondent, "I don't know that if I weren't in this position that the collaboration would

still exist, but as long as I am here, it will continue." So the question now becomes for Public and like institutions engaging in collaboration, what happens when the familiar is no longer the familiar. However, perhaps Public has successfully mastered that dilemma as well, by a means even unknown to them, but certainly rooted in southern tradition that collaboration remains alive and well, by way of the "good old boy" network. The use of the "good old boy" term is not to be derogatory toward Public, but to prove the point that even as one person leaves the institution, the legacy of the person remains the outgoing faculty, administrator or for the purposes of this research, the committee member leaves but upon doing so names or appoints another as their predecessor, as this research has proven through such comments as "I worked closely with the University Studies Department Chair and her predecessor." The current Department Chair has commented in casual work conversations that her predecessor mentored and groomed her for the Chair's position. So as collaborations continue to be a benchmark within schools of excellence for the first-year experience, it must be noted that there is an institution of first-year excellence that has perfected the art of committee collaborations outside some of the normal rules, regulations, or characteristics of collaboration.

Knowingly or unknowingly, this institution perfected its ability to support a culture of comfort through a sustained philosophy of student success and sustained relationships of trust through a legacy of "long marchers" that as a result crossed traditional boundaries, barriers, silos, and territories. Ironically, perhaps their should be some consideration to the notion that the "good old boy" network also has a place in the collaboration literature in sustaining first-year initiatives and collaborations, as it has substantiated Public's collaborative committee successes (despite unclear goals) and

ability to breakdown the higher education historical gap between academic affairs and student affairs.

Personal Observations & Commentary

As the interviewer and ethnographer of this study, I would be remiss if I did not share or include in this research my personal observations of the institutional culture just described. In the summer of 2004, I applied for a Director position at Public State University. The position was housed in the Department of University Studies. During my initial interviews with the Department, it was clear that I was well informed and well qualified for the position, however from the perspective of those hiring, there was still true concern about my ability to be successful. I was told that in the final hours of making a decision, someone else, an alumnus, a current employer had also applied for the position and because she was not a newcomer to Kennesaw, she was now the favored candidate. The rationale was that it is easier for a familiar person to be hired into a new position and form campus-wide connections than an unfamiliar person. It was stated, and correctly so, it would be like throwing me into "the lion's den." Ultimately the latter candidate was offered the position of CLASS Director, not necessarily because of Learning Community expertise, but because of the ease of making inroads into the community and the ease of forming and maintaining trusting relationships. This is the way of PSU. It is easier to teach job responsibilities than it is to teach culture.

However, as a newcomer of only two and a half years to Public State, I have had the opportunity to serve on committees at Public, as well as even chair a committee. And while I certainly value the first-year experience and espouse the student success

philosophy that is so historically rooted in the PSU experience, I have to admit that I have had to still combat Public's strong institutional culture of comfort and familiarity. I have quietly learned that as a committee member, and even as chair that until a level of trust has been obtained by way of time (long marchers), or by way of being introduced and giving legitimacy by way of a familiar Long Marcher or legacy, that it is very difficult to have a voice at the committee table. My experience has been, even though the commonality of philosophy may have gotten me to the table, that commonality by no means afforded me the luxury of trusting relationships or even privy to having my voice recognized until there had been some level of credence giving to me by the familiar. Once I was brought into conversations by way of someone familiar, then my comments or actions at the table were accepted or legitimized or at least partially.

As I have served as Chair of the First-year Convocation committee and now as a member of the new Presidential Inauguration committee, I am very aware that I am only there as a figure to be seen and not necessarily heard unless asked or tapped by a "familiar." Only then am I recognized and given the opportunity to contribute. I also know that as this process continues that I am being groomed to become a "familiar" - a long marcher and that coupled with my philosophy of student success will enhance my abilities to be a part of the First-Year Experience collaboration among academic affairs and student affairs at Public State University.

Please note that as I share anecdotal comments and observations about this research, that I do so in an effort to bring a better understanding of the findings of this research and to bring attention to perhaps a gap in the literature, whereby, when examining academic and student affairs collaborations, institutional culture must also be part of the discussion

and a part of the literature. It is not my intention to be offensive or again even derogatory, but instead be true to the research and to the academy. As I will share one final anecdotal commentary alluding to my own part in the institutional culture described as the "good old boy" network. Upon being hired as a PSU 1101 instructor, and rightly so on my own merit, experience and credentials, I too had been acculturated. On the day of my interview, I was met at the door of the department of hire, not by my interview committee, but by two familiars – familiar to Public as "long marchers," but also familiars to me, in that through previous statewide work, the two had become trusted colleagues and friends. Unbeknownst to me then and I believe even to them, I had just been tapped.

Limitations of the Study

This study has some limitations that must be taken into consideration. First, generalizations about the findings cannot be made due to the institutional culture and climate of Public State University. In other words, it is uncertain that institutions of a larger size or with faculty and staff with shorter employment tenure would have the same affinity or need for long-term relationships in order to establish and maintain successful collaborations. Perhaps for different institutions of higher learning, established relationships would not be the foundation for collaboration, instead the intent to collaborate or the collaboration effort would be the foundation with relationships being a by-product of the collaborative process.

Second, the information gathered on Public's first-year collaborations only involved committee collaborations, however, it might prove productive to look at other types of

collaborations, such as external institutional collaborations - those involving universities and local or global communities; also other categories of internal institutional collaborations involving student success, such as those mentioned by Gardner (2004), including student organization advising with both faculty and student affairs staff, conference presentations by both, faculty and student affairs research, and/or shared office space that function to connect both academic and student affairs support services. Obtaining more information on the above items might be relative to the findings and add much to the discussion and literature.

Third, although the attempt was made to collect data from committee observations, the attempt was unproductive due to the timing of this research in relation to the university's academic calendar. Understanding that collaboration is a process and because I was only able to observe part of the process, I would suggest for future study observing the ongoing work of future committee work in its entirety so as to see the interpersonal relationships and interactions of group members and how group dynamics impact, impede or enhance collaborations. Thus, it is fair to say that timing is critical to this type of higher education observations, so future research should take into consideration faculty and staff work schedules and the beginning and ending of semesters.

Recommendations for Future Research

Future research in this area of first-year experience programs of excellence committee collaborations is needed to determine whether the findings in this study can be duplicated. Further research utilizing the rubric developed for this study might

substantiate the validity of the instrument. However, because of the results of this study, it might be profitable to include an additional question or questions dealing with institutional culture, and the underpinnings that institutions of higher education are social systems (the "good old boy" network) inextricably tied to and connected to their external environments (a southern institution), and the impact of such on collaboration.

It is also recommended that future research of this type be conducted with other Foundations of Excellence institutions in an effort to better determine on a larger scale if committee collaborations are a true benchmark for determining organizational structures and policies. Perhaps this additional study can further the efforts in highlighting the comprehensive integrated and coordinated approach to the first year, as stated by second Dimensions statement within the Foundations of Excellence report (Barefoot, 2004).

Moreover, it is recommended that future research include contacting additional committee members as an alternative to one member, along with committee chairs, in an effort to identify if those members would respond differently to the initial study. In the same vein, it might prove worthwhile to contact and interview senior administrators, such as the Vice Presidents and Deans of Academic and Student Affairs, as they are involved participants in the collaborative process, to see if they respond differently to the initial study, as well as result in different findings. Additionally, when speaking of committee members, perhaps future research could include interviewing new employees (three years or less) that serve or served as committee members or committee chairs to see if their experiences mirror or dispel those in the commentary.

Finally, given that this study revealed that relationships were crucial to the committee collaborations, it might prove to be worthwhile to conduct the same research with those

referred relationships or relationships formed by the introduction of a former colleague. Since this study did not include such conversations with previous employers or supported relationships that proved to be a conduit for establishing current committee relationships, future research could yield new findings.

Summary

What do academic and student affairs committee collaborations look like in a First-Year of Excellence program? This study answers that question by looking at Public State University, one of the founding institutions of the Foundations of Excellence endeavor to provide systematic standards for a college or university's total approach to a student's first year experience. This research is grounded in the second dimension taken from the Foundations of Excellence eight Dimension Statements that states that institutions that are looking for models of excellence should: "create organization structures and policies that provide a comprehensive integrated and coordinated approach to the first year" (p.8). Therefore, this research observed PSU's First-Year Experience program through academic and student affairs collaborative lenses, specifically examining PSU's established committees that were engaged in collaboration, the First-Year Orientation and Advising Committee (FYOAC) and the University College Advisory Council (UCAC).

The rubric used during this research was based on academic and student affairs collaboration literature that provided characteristics that make for good collaboration, which most were exemplified by the participants of this study. For example, Public's committee members clearly state that they were chosen for their respective committees

because of their roles at the university, and because of them working on some level with the first-year experience program. Additionally, committee members identified collaboration as "messy with give and take without guarantee of which one of those two you're going to do, but be willing to do both." Collaboration is "connecting to create a seamless experience of first year students, understanding what students need in order to be successful." Collaboration is "letting go of individual power and working together for student success." Collaboration is "bringing together a group of diverse individuals and rather than having them argue solely from the standpoint of what is best for me... let's look at first year students and see what would be best for them." Overall, the committee members generally agreed and affirmed most of the characteristics outlined in the literature for making collaborations work.

However, there were some contradictions, particularly relating to aligned fiscal resources, and mutually agreed upon goals and objectives from each committee.

Contradictions with aligned fiscal resources are clearly stated by the UCAC chair:

I think if you were to put the Vice Presidents and some of their kind, maybe all the Deans in a room they would all agree that retention of first-year students is vitally important to improving our six-year graduation rates. I think they would also agree that Public University should try to enhance its already well-known first-year programs because they provide a great recruiting tool and it's lovely to be able to have our name listed in <u>U.S. News and World Report</u> and these other sort of things. However, where the rubber meets the road is when you ask Dean X, does all this mean that you would be willing to only see your budget increase by 5% so that the budget for University College, the home of first-year programs, can be increased by 10% because they really need some frontline people who are going to help those first-year students and make a difference in advising and those sorts of things – the answer to this question is where the whole disconnect occurs.

The UCAC chair continued to state:

The Vice President composed a two-page document and asked members from the college campus to be a part of UCAC and when we met for the first time he talked about how the Advisor Council in terms of how it was going to be composed and

initially the first year were each supposed to get \$500 in professional development funds, and we were supposed to get a one course reassignment. So I mean this was supposed to be heavy duty service work – this cracked me up.

In relation to contradictions concerning committee goals, participants responded:

I don't know that we've defined it clearly but my assumption is that we are focused on trying to bring the areas of University Studies and the CAP center responsibilities together.

Well, we are definitely in flux right now. The committee is an advisory to the Dean but now that our Dean is returning to teaching, we or some of us will be on the recruiting committee for the new Dean. Thus, we will then look to that new Dean for new direction to see where the University College goes from here.

So the overall goal was to try and figure out what University College was and where it fit into PSU's landscape. So how do you have a goal for a structure that you're not even sure what it is?

The comments on unclear goals could seem unproductive to collaboration which would add validity to Cohen and March's (1974) assertion that unclear goals characterize colleges and universities. However, in the case of Public State University' first-year committees, rather than being committees that became disconnected because of their inability to agree on common goals, they became stronger and more productive. This research shows that these committee collaborations were successful due largely to trusted relationships and a strong sense of a shared philosophy of student success. For some, particularly the "long marchers," the relationships were 13 to 25 years in the making and the philosophy of student success began in the early years of the first woman presidency with the mission of Public State and remains still at the forefront of all their decision making processes today. So the irony here is that while there were not affirmative responses to all the characteristics of good collaborations set forth by the literature that caused FYOAC and UCAC committees to be successful, there is the knowledge that as

long as there is an embedded culture of a shared philosophy and trusted relationships, collaborations in PSU's FYE program will work.

Relationships and a shared commitment to student success were the constants throughout this study and as stated by the FYOAC member, for example:

I think philosophically we are on the same page. I think that philosophically, we want students to be successful. I think that is the philosophy that has impacted the way we are working together.

Additionally, in regards to relationships, the Department Chair and FYOAC co-chair stated:

Additionally, collaboration is relationships, for example, had I been a different department chair he might not have been so willing to pull us in and let us into some of their turf. The trust and relationship made it be less a turf war.

And in terms of institutional culture, the UCAC member responded:

It's learning and as people come on board... this is what's in place, you kind of believe that that's the structure and that's the way it was and you become part of that culture. Whereas if you were not and you didn't believe in it initially, you may have been resistant, well... over time either one, you change, or else you move on. And then as the new people come in, they're embedded into the current structure and the culture.

So what do these findings mean and how does it add to the body of academic and student affairs collaboration literature? Because of "long marchers" and trusted relationships, and because of the core belief and institutional commitment to student success, this study encourages us to further explore the phenomenon of institutional culture, and more specifically, institutional culture in the South, as this has been a study on a Southeastern University. The unyielding commitment of the "long marchers" of this institution to its philosophy and to one another reflects that of the Southern social system known as the "good old boy" network. Perhaps it might be of value to include in the literature on academic and student affairs collaboration information on institutional

culture, and investigate whether the underpinnings of institutional culture are actually social systems (the "good old boy" network) that are inextricably tied to their external environments (southern institutions), that in turn impact foundational benchmarks as collaboration on First-Year Experience programs.

"New President, New Era"

"New President, A New Era" was the theme of the inauguration ceremony for PSU's third president, after the retirement of PSU's, first woman president of 25 years. Additionally, spring 2007 marked the PSU's first State of the University address, when the new President unveiled the 2007-2012 Strategic Plan.

The plan takes into account the position of the State of Georgia and the University System of Georgia in 20007, and their aspirations for 2012. It acknowledges the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats, affecting KSU's past, present and future (PSU Strategic Plan, 2007).

During the State of the University address, the new president informed administrators, faculty members, staff members, and students that PSU will begin its inaugural comprehensive capital campaign in efforts to become a "true destination campus." It will become a campus of first choice for students with new buildings, new residence halls, and new parking garages. The president continued,

we are growing, we're expected to grow, we're mandated to grow, and thus there will be more noise, more mud, and a redirection of traffic patterns.... We are urban - no longer rural, and no longer suburban.... Every facet of PSU is on an upward trajectory (Papp, 2007).

However, the President assures his constituents that the challenges ahead can and will be met, because of the "dedicated faculty and staff members of the PSU community."

Additionally, the new president recognized and solidified PSU's reputation as an institution with "accredited and nationally ranked programs that are committed to student success; initiatives for first-year students, and involvement in community service." However, despite his enthusiasm about change, since the President's arrival and his State of the University Address, there seems to be a climate of quiet uncertainty, long marcher retirements, and new presidential administrative hires. A "New President, New Era," is signifying not only new relationships, but perhaps a new institutional culture.

References

- American heritage dictionary (1983). William Morris, Houghton Mifflin Company.
- Astin, A.W. (1991). <u>Assessment for excellence</u>. Old Tappan, NJ: Macmillan.
- Astin, A.W. (1993). What matters in college? Four critical years revisited. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- A Joint Report: American Association for Higher Education, American College Personnel Association, National Association of Student Personnel Administrators (1998). Powerful partnerships a shared responsibility for learning. Retrieved September 2005 from http://www.aahe.org/teaching/tsk_frce.htm, p.1-16.
- Barefoot, B. (2004). Foundations of excellence: A new model for first-year assessment. Assessment Update. 16(2), 5-7.
- Bogdan, R., & Biklen, S. (1998). <u>Qualitative research for education: An introduction to theory and methods (3rd ed.)</u>. Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Cohen, M.D., & March, J.G. (1974). <u>Leadership and ambiguity: The American college</u> President. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Creswell, J.W. (1998). <u>Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five traditions.</u> Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- DeVault, M.L. (1999). <u>Liberating method: Feminism and social research</u>. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.
- Ewell, P.T. (1997). Organizing for learning: A new imperative. <u>AAHE Bulletin</u>, 50(4), 3-6.
- Foundations of Excellence Report (2004). Retrieved August, 2005 from http://www.brevard.edu/fyfoundations/plans/improvement.htm
- Fontana, A., & Frey, J.H. (1994). Interviewing: The art of science. In N.K. Denzin & Y.S. Lincoln (Eds.), Handbook of qualitative research (pp. 361-376). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Freshmen Learning Communities Brochure (2004). Office of Undergraduate Studies. Georgia State University. Atlanta, GA.

- Gabelnick, F., MacGregor, J., Mathews, R.S., and Smith, B.L. (Eds.) (1990). Learning communities: creating connections among students, faculty, and disciplines. <u>New Directions for Teaching and Learning</u>. (41). San Francisco, CA.
- Gardner, J.N. (2004, November 8). Remarks at the annual students in transition Conference, Nashville, Tennessee.
- Gardner, J.N. (1989). Starting a freshman seminar program (In M.L. Upcraft, J.N. Gardner, and Associates (1990). <u>The Freshman Year Experience</u> (pp. 238-249). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Goodsell Love, A., & Tokuno, K.A. (1999). Learning communities models: Partners for learning (pp. 9-17). Columbia SC: University of SC, National Resource Center for the First-Year Experience & Students in Transition.
- Gordon, V.N., and Grites, T.J. (1984). The freshmen seminar course: Helping students succeed. <u>Journal of College Student Personnel.</u> (25). pp.315-320.
- Humberman, A.M., & Miles, M.B. (1994). Data management and analysis methods. In
 N.K., Denzin & Y.S. Lincoln (Eds.), Handbook of qualitative research (pp. 428-444). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Hunter, M.S., & Linder, C.W. (2003). College seminars for first-year students. In J.W. Guthrie (Ed.), <u>Encyclopedia of Education.</u> (2nd ed.) (pp. 399-401). New York, NY: Macmillan.
- Jaeger, R. M. (1997). <u>Methods for research in education.</u> (2nd ed). Washington, DC: American Educational Research Association.
- Knefelkamp, L.L. (1991). The seamless curriculum. In K. Kellogg, <u>Collaboration:</u> student affairs and academic affairs working together to promote student learning. ERIC Clearinghouse on Higher Education Washington DC. BBB32577.
- Kuh, G.D. (1996). Guiding principles for creating seamless learning environments for undergraduates. Journal of College Student Development, 37(2), 135-148.
- Kuh, G.D. (1997, June). Working together to enhance student learning inside and outside the classroom. Paper presented at the annual AAHE. Assessment and quality conference, Miami, FL.
- Kuh, G.D. & Banta, T.W. (2000). Faculty-student affairs collaboration on assessment-lessons from the field. About Campus, 4(6), 4-11.
- Lincoln, Y.S. (2004) Academic freedom, IRB and the NRC committee report. Paper presentation at annual AERA. Enhancing the visibility and credibility of Educational Research conference, San Diego, CA.

- Love, A.G. (1999). What are learning communities? In Levine, J.H. (1999). <u>Learning communities: New structures, new partnerships for learning</u>. Columbia, South Carolina, National Resource Center for the First-Year Experience and Students in Transition. Monograph Series, No 26.
- Merriam, S. B. (1998). <u>Qualitative research and case study application in education</u>, revised and expanded from case study research in education. San Francisco, California: Jossey-Bass.
- Miller, T.K. (Ed.). (1999). <u>CAS: The book of professional standards for higher</u>
 <u>Education 1999</u>. Washington, DC: Council for the Advancement of Standards in Higher Education.
- Papp, D. (2007). *PSU State of the University Address*. PSU University. Kennesaw, GA.
- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (2005). <u>How college affects students: A third decade of research, Volume 2</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- PSU Fact Book. (2004). University Publications. Public State University. Kennesaw, GA.
- PSU Foundations Task Force Report. (January 2004). Department of University Studies (pp. 1-22). Public State University. Kennesaw, GA.
- PSU Foundations Task Force Report. (January 2004). Department of University Studies (p.8). Public State University. Kennesaw, GA.
- PSU Strategic Plan. (2007). University Publications. Public State University. Kennesaw, GA.
- Sanford, N. (Ed.). (1962). The American college. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Schetlin, M. E. (1969). Myths of the student personnel point of view. <u>Journal of Higher</u> Education, 40 (1), 58-63.
- Schroeder, C.C. (1998). Developing collaborative partnerships that enhance student learning and educational attainment. Retrieved September, 2005 from http://www.acpa.nche.edu/srsch/charles_schoreder.html, p. 1-6.
- Seidman, I. (1998). <u>Interviewing as qualitative research (2nd ed.)</u> New York: Teachers College Press.
- Shafritz, J.M., & Ott, J. S. (2001). <u>Classics of organization theory.</u> (5th Ed). Belmont, CA: Wadsworth Group.

- Shapiro, N.S., & Levine, J. H. (1999). <u>Creating learning communities: A practical guide to winning support, organizing for change, and implementing programs</u>. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Stein, R.B., & Short, P.M. (2001). Collaboration in delivering higher education programs: Barriers and challenges. <u>Review of Higher Education</u>, 24(4), 417-436.
- Strauss, A. and Corbin, J. (1990). <u>Basics of qualitative research</u>. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Tinto, V. (1993). Principles of effective retention. <u>Journal of The Freshmen Year Experience</u>, 2(1), 35-48.
- Upcraft, M.L., Gardner, J.N., Barefoot, B.O. & Associates (2005). <u>Challenging & supporting the first-year student: A handbook for improving the first year of college.</u> San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Veysey, L.R. (1965). <u>The emergence of the American university</u>. Chicago, IL: The University of Chicago Press.
- Webster's new world dictionary of the American language (1983). David B. Guralnik (Ed.), New York, NY: Warner Communications Company.
- Yin, R.K. (2003). <u>Case study research: Design and methods (3rd Ed.)</u> Thousand Oaks, California: Sage Publications, Inc.

APPENDIXES

APPENDIX A

University College/SSES Advising Task Force (FYOAC)

Agenda

Charge: history, purpose and responsibilities

Set Priorities (initial and long-term)

Develop mission statement

First Year Mandatory Advising & Orientation

Impact of Proposal for PSU 1101/1102: Certification of requirement

Role of OCP and Advising Council

APPENDIX B

First-Year Orientation & Advising Committee (FYOAC) Recommendations by Committee Chairs

- 1. Continue the regular meetings of FYOAC for at least two years to ensure that collaboration and coordination between University College and Student Success and Enrollment Services continue. This body not only reviews policies regarding orientation and advising, but it helps strengthen the communication between UC and SSES on other issues related to first-year students.
 - a. There may need to be discussion I the future about collapsing FYOAC into UCAC as one of the standing subcommittees, but that does not seem to be the best course of action right now. We recommend this issue be revisited in spring '06 before new appointments are made to UCAC for the fall
- 2. The message of "mandated orientation" needs to be delivered to students in all materials immediately, but the actual enforcement of that mandate should be delayed until spring '06. This policy mandate is distinct from curriculum requirements, and its enforcement will require creativity and cooperation from the Registrar's Office, CAPS Center, Residence Life, and University College. We recommend that FYUOAC invite stakeholders from these entities to work together to develop a manageable enforcement process.
- 3. The FAST program should be discontinued as of May 20005, and a new structure for academic advising during orientations should be implemented this summer for the eight fall orientation dates. The new structure will include (1) pre-advising sessions for exploratory students in small groups of 20 students and (2) a consistent, trained set of academic advisors for each of the seven groups of advisees at orientation that will include two LINK leaders, two faculty/staff from the appropriate college, and one faculty representative from University College.
 - a. Those seven groups are (1) exploratory students, (2) learning support, (3) College of the Arts, (4) College of Humanities & Social Sciences, (5) College of Education, (6) College of Science & Math, and (7) Wellstar College of Health & Human Services.
- 4. The organization of new student orientations should be re-tooled to include a stronger academic component to ensure that University College initiatives like the PSU 1101/1102 requirement and UC/SSES initiatives like mandatory academic advisement receive the necessary attention and explanation. This re-tooling should be explored in early Fall'05 with the rollout in late fall during spring'06 orientation sessions.
 - a. FYOAC will work with the Orientation Planning Committee to implement policy decisions, but OPC will continue to function as a "nuts-and-bolts" team to plan and carry out new student orientation.
- 5. The mandatory academic advising for first-year students is a three –part process. The first point of contact between a student and his University; College/CAPS Center advisor will occur during New Student Orientation. The second point of contact will occur during the first half of his first semester in either his PSU 1101

class, one of his out-of-class activities within his learning community, or a mandated appointment in the CAPS Center. The final point of contact will occur during his second semester to ensure the student is ready to declare a major or at least meet with an academic advisor in the discipline he is most likely to choose as his major. This meeting between the discipline-based advisor and the student will be coordinated by the University College/CAPS Center advisor to ensure the student does not get "lost in the system." (A student who is still struggling with his choice of major at the end of his first year will continue to be advised by CAPS Center personnel, who will be able to work individually with the student on the completion and analysis of assessments that will assist in the decision-making process.)

A final word: All members of FYOAC strongly support a campus-wide announcement made jointly by the Vice President of Academic Affairs and Vice President of Student Enrollment Services regarding mandatory orientation and mandatory academic advising for all first-time, full-time students. All members agree that FYOAC's ability to work with the University Advising Council and other entities on campus will be greatly enhanced by the release of this joint announcement being made prior to the end of the spring semester.

Respectfully submitted on April 20, 2005.

FYOAC Members

5 members from UC5 members from CAPS

Appendix C

University College Advisory Council Meeting

September 24, 2004 Meeting held in BB 151

By: Chair

- 1. A member was nominated for an unofficial secretary position. She offered to compile minutes for this meeting until an official secretary is elected. While the Council has no governance responsibilities, the Department of University Studies Chair suggested that a record is kept of the Council's discussions to share with the campus community.
- 2. The Dean of Undergraduate Studies asked everyone to thank the Chair for the preliminary draft of the Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ) sheet. The chair asked if there were any questions or concerns coming from each member's departments after the FAQ were distributed. The relationship between this Council and the General Education Council was questioned. The Chair and Dean clarified the fact that they are independent. There may be a logical connection between the two in the future, but it is premature to assume that at this stage. Many of the questions will be answered as the University College Advisory Council develops the structure and determines the scope of responsibilities of the University College.

Many members had questions concerning program development and the interdisciplinary studies degree. The Dean explained that the graduate degree was proposed prior to the formation of University College by a faculty member. The undergraduate degree is currently proposed and under review by the Board of Regents. A UCAC member described this program as one that will be custom tailored to meet student needs. A recommendation was made that the Senate Committee be kept aware of our progress, and the Chair agreed to present where we are now, though she noted that she would not be able to answer many questions, as the Council is in a formative stage.

3. The Chair gave a PowerPoint presentation of national UC models and charged the council to research the existing models, but not to limit our visions to these examples. Included in this presentation was the 2004 NSSE data from Ed Rugg showing the need for improvement in customer relations on this campus between students, faculty and administrative personnel, especially for first-year students. She cited PSU's involvement in the national Foundations of Excellence in the First Year project as the impetus for the formation of a University College. The UC concept also connects, rather than fragments interdisciplinary collaboration. For example, every University College that responded to a national survey in 1993 was responsible for student orientation, academic advising for first-year students (and other special populations like exploratory students), and academic support services. Many of them also offered first-year courses (such as PSU 1101) and coordinated learning communities and other special initiatives. As PSU continues its current growth pattern, the need for a centralized umbrella for first-year initiatives and support services becomes more necessary.

National models from Ohio State, Butler University and IUPUI were briefly reviewed. The Chair also reviewed mission statements from Alabama State and University of South Florida. The presentation concluded with samples of organizational charts from Ball State, University of Texas at El Paso and Ohio University. (Ohio is home to the oldest University College, which was created in 1935).

4. The Chair then reviewed the goals of subcommittees and charged them with meeting prior to the October 5th UC meeting at 3:30 (location TBA). The chairs of subcommittees will email meeting dates. (These chairs are from the following subcommittees: Communication, Mission, Faculty Appointment, and PSU 1101/CLASS).

The subcommittees were also given the following charges:

- *Mission* to construct a purpose statement for University College to be reviewed by the full Council;
- *Communication* to gather feedback from campus constituents and develop effective means of transmitting information about the Council's work to the larger campus community;
- Faculty Appointment to draft an organizational chart for University College and to develop a list of possibilities for faculty involvement; and
- *PSU 1101/CLASS* to develop proposals to strengthen the course and the learning communities initiative within the structure of University College.
- 5. A member volunteered to produce a website for the University College Advisory Council to assist in efficiently informing the campus community of our activities. The FAQ, Chair's Powerpoint presentation, members of the subcommittee, and other materials will be available on the website.
- 6. Future UC meeting times: October 5^{th} , 3:30-5 p.m.; October 19^{th} , 3:30-5 p.m.; November 5^{th} , 2:30–4 p.m.; and December 5^{th} , 3 4:30 p.m. (Locations to be announced.)

APPENDIX D

Summary of Activities University College Advisory Council Year One: 2004-05

Introduction

Faculty members and academic administrators from each of the six discipline-based colleges as well as the Department of University Studies were invited to join the University College Advisory Council in August 2004. This advisory body, which would provide recommendations to the Dean, was asked to serve as a "think tank" to ensure that the best ideas on developing, implementing and maintaining a University College were provided to the Dean. The council's membership was determined by Academic Affairs.

The UCAC's first meeting was held September 17, 2004. The VP for Academic Affairs and the Dean facilitated the meeting, and they charged the council members with a broad set of duties. Administrative details were also decided at the first meeting. The CLASS Director, was elected Chair of the UCAC; the Professor of CSIS, was elected Chair-Elect. Members were also given an opportunity to sign up for subcommittees that would explore the (1) mission, vision and goals of University College; (2) faculty appointments within University College; (3) PSU 1101/CLASS issues; and (4) communication regarding University College to both internal and external audiences.

The University College Advisory Council then met as a full body seven times during the academic year. The subcommittees met numerous times to prepare their proposals to the full body.

This has truly been a year of exploration for the UCAC. As with any new initiative, the members of UCAC have had to forge their own path. They have accomplished a great deal and are poised to finalize many of their initiatives in the second year.

Summary of Accomplishments

Mission Subcommittee: The group's original charge – as it appears in the September 24, 2004, minutes – was "to construct a purpose statement for University College to be reviewed by the full Council." The subcommittee completed this task in early 2005 and sent the Dean its formal recommendations. The mission statement for University College is as follows:

University College is an academic unit offering integrated programs and services to facilitate students' academic success and persistence. The goal of University College is to ensure a seamless and centralized experience for all of our undergraduate students. A primary objective of University College is to pioneer the development of innovative, cross-disciplinary academic opportunities to meet emerging academic needs.

This subcommittee also developed a set of value statements to guide University College:

- Provide a student-centered structure that focuses on the needs and achievement of PSU's unique student population as the ultimate measure of the College's success.
- Approach undergraduate education in an intentional, rather than haphazard, way.

- Ensure a coherent experience for students.
- Create a clearly defined "portal of entry" for first-year students.
- Transcend disciplinary boundaries in order to serve students' interests in the best possible way.
- Utilize ongoing assessment to guide and refine initiatives.

Finally, this subcommittee detailed the objectives for University College:

- Enhance student satisfaction with the undergraduate experience at PSU.
- Create structures to enhance communication across disciplinary boundaries.
- Integrate General Education and advisement within undergraduate education through the Communities for Learning Success (CLASS), First-Year, Sophomore-Year, and Senior-Year Experience programs.
- Improve PSU's retention rates.
- Improve PSU's graduation rates.

Communication Subcommittee: This subcommittee was charged with "gather[ing] feedback from campus constituents and develop[ing] effective means of transmitting information about the Council's work to the larger campus community." The subcommittee completed the following initiatives:

- developed and maintained a website for the UCAC to ensure that its work was
 easily accessible to the campus community and transparent to those who were
 interested in following its progress;
- developed and administered a survey to determine what students wanted to know about University College;
- assisted in the development of presentation materials for other subcommittees of the UCAC; and
- worked with University Relations to develop a two-phase strategy for publicizing University College.

The Communication Subcommittee's work was predominantly focused on planning this year, since its work logically followed the work of the other subcommittees. The group will serve as the liaison between University College and those charged with implementing its ideas during the 2005-06 academic year.

Faculty Appointment: This subcommittee's charge was to "draft an organizational chart for University College and to develop a list of possibilities for faculty involvement." The subcommittee chose to focus on the second half of the charge for this year and developed a draft of "joint appointment guidelines" for faculty members who seek to be jointly appointed in both a discipline-based college and University College. Using the University of Michigan's document as a starting point for discussion, the subcommittee developed guidelines that would be useful to University College but would also be applicable to other entities at Public State University. There was a consensus at the final meeting of the UCAC to send the guidelines to the Dean as a formal recommendation. The UCAC Faculty Appointment Subcommittee will hold an open forum for the campus community

¹ Portals of Entry: University Colleges and Undergraduate Studies (Columbia, South Carolina: University of South Carolina National Resource Center for the Freshman Year Experience, 1998).

on these guidelines in Fall 2005 and will serve as a liaison when governance bodies begin to review the guidelines during the 2005-06 academic year.

PSU 1101/CLASS Subcommittee: This subcommittee reviewed the national learning outcomes assessment report of the First-Year Initiative benchmarking survey, developed by the Policy Center on the First Year of College and Educational Benchmarking, Inc. (EBI), to help shape the PSU aspirational model for its Foundations of Excellence in the First College Year project. Matching up the CLASS learning outcomes (that had been previously developed) and the PSU 1101 modules that were utilized in the Fall 2004 courses, the subcommittee found that PSU's two first-year initiatives met those national benchmarking standards. (The subcommittee recognized that the "Wellness" standard was touched upon in PSU 1101 and most of the learning communities but dealt with completely in the HPS 1000 institutional requirement. The subcommittee also chose to add an eleventh standard to ensure that a commitment to diversity and global appreciation was explicitly represented.) The subcommittee wrote learning outcomes specifically for the PSU 1101 course. It also drafted the national benchmarking standards into 11 learning outcomes that it determined all first-year students at PSU should experience.

In early 2005 the subcommittee reached a consensus that its formal recommendation to the Dean would be a curriculum proposal. The subcommittee's desire to ensure that all first-year students are introduced to the 11 learning outcomes led it to propose a structure to reach that goal: All first-time, full-time students entering PSU with fewer than 15 semester credit hours would be required to take either PSU 1101 or a learning community, which the subcommittee proposed to be named PSU 1102.

The Dean's immediate acceptance of the proposal allowed it to move through the governance process for curriculum additions, changes, or deletions. The proposal was formally drafted by the UCAC chair in February 2005. Over the next two months it was approved by the Department of University Studies Curriculum Committee; the Chair of the Department of University Studies; the General Education Council; and the Undergraduate Policies and Curriculum Committee. The proposal received a 12-1 vote of approval from UPCC and became a curriculum requirement beginning Fall 2005.

Finally, this subcommittee served as a resource throughout the curriculum proposal process by sponsoring an open forum for the campus community, providing assessment data on both PSU 1101 and CLASS, and ensuring transparency by placing voluminous amounts of information on first-year seminars and learning communities on the UCAC website.

The focus for this subcommittee next year will be to develop a template for disciplines that want to develop their own first-year seminars and to review all CLASS proposals for Fall 2006.

Advising Subcommittee: A fifth subcommittee was discussed in late 2004 to assess the effectiveness of orientation and advising for first-year students. An ex-officio member of the UCAC, agreed to chair the subcommittee, but it never met. Instead, a task force of

103

University Studies personnel and CAPS Center personnel was created in spring 2005 to examine orientation and advising for first-year students. This task force's recommendations were provided to the Dean, the Vice President of Academic Affairs and the VP for Student Success and Enrollment Services in late spring.

Accomplishments Based on Charge

The following eight possible duties for the UCAC were originally delineated in the charge to the council. Many were accomplished during this first year.

- 1. Set up regular meetings of the University College Advisory Council in collaboration with the Dean of University College
- ➤ This was completed with monthly meetings during the academic year. The February 2005 meeting was canceled because of so many conflicting conferences.
- 2. Develop the mission, vision, and goals for the University College
- ➤ This was completed by the Mission Subcommittee, although one-year and five-year goals should be developed during the 2005-06 academic year.
- 3. Develop a template for the PSU 1101 course and possible discipline-specific equivalents for consideration and discussion
- ➤ The 11 learning outcomes that now define PSU 1101 and PSU 1102 will also provide the foundation for any discipline-specific first-year seminars. The PSU 1101/CLASS subcommittee will work with departments interested in developing discipline-based courses.
- 4. Recommend assessment needs, policies, and procedures for the PSU 1101 course
- ➤ There was no explicit exploration of this duty, primarily because the Department of University Studies established an assessment committee for all programs housed in the department. The PSU 1101/CLASS subcommittee will continue to serve as a resource for this departmental committee while also working with departments choosing to develop discipline-specific first-year seminars.
- 5. Recommend tenure and promotion processes and annual performance evaluation processes for University College regular faculty for the PSU Faculty handbook
- ➤ This was not explored explicitly, since the "University College regular faculty" are all currently housed in the Department of University Studies. The Faculty Appointment Subcommittee did include extensive discussion of tenure and promotion issues in the joint appointment guidelines.
- 6. Recommend recognition and rewards for the University College faculty
- > This was not discussed by any of the subcommittees.
- 7. Propose and examine in collaboration with other appropriate academic units undergraduate degree programs that are broadly interdisciplinary

➤ No degree programs were proposed or examined, but the Faculty Appointment Subcommittee's work detailed a plan for faculty desiring an interdisciplinary appointment.

8. Other duties as the need arises

➤ Clearly, the focus of the UCAC during its first year was to develop the mission statement for University College, pursue a consistent first-year experience for students, and develop a plan for explaining University College and its initiatives to internal and external audiences.

Members of the University College Advisory Council

English		
University Studies	Standing Member	
University Studies	Chair, Mission Subcommittee	
Visual Arts		
Education		
Health, PE & Sports	Chair, Fac. Appt. Subcommittee	
Registrar		
University Studies	Standing Member; UCAC Chair	
Health		
History & Philosophy		
Communication	Chair, Comm. Subcommittee	
Biology		
University Studies	Standing Member; Chair, PSU 1101/CLASS Subcommittee	
CSIS	UCAC Chair-Elect	
Int'l Services		
Economics		
Coles College		
Wellstar College		
Theatre		
Education		
Mathematics		
Education		
Economics & Finance		
Music		
Academic Affairs		
Student Success		
Academic Affairs		
Academic Affairs		
University College		
	University Studies University Studies Visual Arts Education Health, PE & Sports Registrar University Studies Health History & Philosophy Communication Biology University Studies CSIS Int'I Services Economics Coles College Wellstar College Theatre Education Mathematics Education Economics & Finance Music Academic Affairs Student Success Academic Affairs Academic Affairs	

APPENDIX E

Georgia State University Educational Policy Studies

Informed Consent Form

Title: A First-Year Experience Program of Excellence: Academic & Student Affairs

Committee Collaborations

Principal Investigator: Dr. Philo Hutcheson College of Education, Georgia State University epspah@langate.gsu.edu, (W) 404-651-2583

Student Investigator: Kimberly G. Frazier

1000 Chastain Road, 4th floor library, Public State University

Kfrazie8@kennesaw.edu, (W) 770-423-6147,

I. Introduction/Background/Purpose:

You are invited to participate in a research study. You will be interviewed regarding your impressions of PSU's First-Year Experience. The purpose of this study is to examine a first-year experience program at a university identified as a school of excellence for first-year programs. I, Kimberly G. Frazier (student investigator), will specifically observe the committee work of two ongoing academic and student affairs collaborations. The two committees are: the Advising and Orientation Committee, and the University College Committee.

II. Procedures & Duration:

This research will include 35 overall committee members as subjects for this study, including committee chair(s) and/or co-chairs. This number comes from the total number of people that are already assigned by the university to each of the committees (Advising & Orientation and the University College committee). In addition to being observed and audio-recorded during upcoming meetings, chairs and co-chairs and possibly one significant contributing member from each committee will be verbally interviewed for about an hour each.

IV. Benefits:

This research will have no direct benefit to you, however, it is my hope that the knowledge gained from this research adds to the existing literature on academic and student affairs collaborations within higher education, as well as contribute to the further success of First-Year Experience programs.

V. Voluntary Participation & Withdrawal:

Participation in this research is voluntary. You have the right to refuse to be in this study. If you decide to be in the study and change your mind, you have the right to drop out at

any time. You may skip questions or discontinue participation at any time. Whatever you decide, you will not lose any benefits to which you are otherwise entitled.

VI. Confidentiality:

I will keep records private to the extent allowed by law. I will use pseudo names rather than your name on study records where possible. Your name and other facts that might point to you will not appear when this study is presented or results published. The findings will be summarized and reported in group form. This consent form includes all the IRB federal regulations; there will be no experimental procedures or any foreseeable risks or discomforts to you, as subjects. I will maintain confidentiality of records, materials, minutes and/or e-mails that I obtain that are not public record. I will do so through a separate filing system which will be located off campus. Please know that at anytime throughout this research you may discontinue your participation at anytime, or choose not to answer questions or complete specific tasks. And finally, know that I will relay to you any significant new findings during this research that might relate to your willingness to participate, as well as let you review the completed work of this study, if you so desire.

VII. Contact Persons:

Please contact Dr. Philo Hutcheson, Principal Investigator/Faculty Advisor at 404-651-2582 if you have questions about this study.

If you have questions or concerns about your rights as a participant in this research study, you may contact the Institutional Review Board (IRB) which oversees the protection on human research participants. Susan Vogtner, in the Office of Research Integrity, can be reached at 404-463-0674.

VIII. Copy of Consent Form to Subject:

We will give you a copy of this consent form to keep. If you are willing to volunteer for this research, please sign below.

Subject	Date				
Principal Inve	stigator	Date		 	
Student Invest	igator, Kim	berly G. Frazier	Date		

APPENDIX F

MEMORANDUM

To: Faculty and Staff

From: Vice President of Academic Affairs

Date: January 24, 2005 Re: University College

I am pleased to announce the Board of Regents recently approved PSU's request to give our Undergraduate and University Studies administrative unit the new name "University College." The Dean of the University College and will continue many of her current assignments as undergraduate dean, in addition to providing leadership for increasing PSU's academic programs focusing on student success. The Department of University Studies will continue as an academic department in the University College, and new departments will be added as needed. Programs and initiatives currently under Undergraduate and University Studies will continue in the new University College.

The University College is the academic home for exploratory students who have not yet declared an academic major, and it is a new place to bring together faculty who teach General Education, Honors, First-Year Experience, and Learning-Community classes. The University College will work with academic departments and other units throughout campus to provide support for projects related to interdisciplinary programs, faculty advising, supplemental instruction, pre-college outreach, and other issues as needed. The University College will continue to support issues that most impact student academic success throughout the undergraduate experience. The University College is the home for the proposed undergraduate degree in interdisciplinary studies, and it may house other select interdisciplinary academic programs in the future.

The Dean will continue to head the General Education Council and have responsibility for the overall direction, coordination, and administration of PSU's General Education, Honors, First- Year Experience, and CLASS programs. The University College Advisory Committee will continue to make recommendations to Dean Frank for policies and implementation strategies within the University College.

Vice President for Academic Affairs

APPENDIX G

Frequently Asked Questions Regarding University College and the University College Advisory Council

1. What is a University College?

A University College is an academic unit used at numerous institutions throughout the nation to stress the importance of undergraduate excellence and student success. The concept of a University College is more than 50 years old, according to the Association of Deans & Directors of University Colleges & Undergraduate Studies.

2. Why do we need a University College at PSU?

A University College will allow us to intentionally ensure a more seamless and centralized experience for all of our undergraduate students by building on the collaboration between Academic Affairs and Student Success. Additionally, the University College will provide integrated and select academic interdisciplinary programs and coursework.

3. Why are we developing a University College now?

PSU was named one of 12 institutions to serve as benchmarks for the Foundations of Excellence in the First Year program. We began to benchmark ourselves against the other 11 national partners to work on improving aspects of our already strong first-year initiatives. Additionally, we have been recognized for the past two years in *US News & World Reports* for excellence in our first-year programs. This institution has a long history of placing premium importance on undergraduate education, but President Siegel and the University System of Georgia would like to see us focus on specific goals in the coming years that improve the student retention, academic achievement, and the overall living learning environment at PSU. A University College will focus on those goals and help us take our undergraduate initiatives to a new level while building interdisciplinary programs to benefit all of our students in innovative ways.

4. What is the University College at PSU?

The focus of University College is to continue to provide integrated and select academic interdisciplinary programs and coursework as well as leadership in undergraduate programs at Public State University. Building upon the existing structure of the Office of the Dean of Undergraduate & University Studies and the Department of University Studies, the University College will involve the coordination and leadership for General Education, Communities for Learning Success (CLASS), Learning Support and Supplemental Instruction, ESL, Honors Program, as well as integrated programs for the First Year, Sophomore Year, and Senior Year experience.

To facilitate the details of implementing the University College, we have an Advisory Council composed of faculty members who were recently charged with developing both the substance and the Implementation of University College. This Council is to provide advice to the Dean of Undergraduate and University Studies, who is assuming the position of Dean of the University College. The Advisory Council will investigate national models but will assist the Dean in developing a University College that works for the unique needs of Public State University.

5. How were Advisory Council members chosen?

The faculty members, who were asked to serve on the University College Advisory Council by the Vice President of Academic Affairs, were initially nominated by their Deans or were selected based on their contributions to the university. Chosen for their professional perspectives, these faculty members represent a diversity of disciplines, experience at PSU, and ideas about University College.

6. What is the function of the Advisory Council?

Designed to be a "think tank" rather than a governance body, the Advisory Council members will pursue a variety of initiatives. Some of these duties may include:

- developing the mission, vision and goals for the University College
- developing a template for the PSU 1101 course and possible discipline-specific equivalents for consideration and discussion
- recommending assessment needs, policies and procedures for the PSU 1101 course and interdisciplinary courses
- recommending procedures for involving PSU faculty in the activities of University College
- recommending tenure and promotion processes and annual performance evaluation processes for faculty involved with University College for the PSU Faculty Handbook
- recommending recognition and rewards for faculty involved with University College
- propose and examine in collaboration with other appropriate academic units undergraduate degree programs that are broadly interdisciplinary.

Advisory Council members will serve staggered terms. Half of the faculty members and department chairs appointed in this inaugural year will serve two-year terms, while the remainder will serve three-year terms. The Chair of University Studies, Director of Learning Communities (CLASS), Director of the First-Year Experience, and a faculty member at large from University Studies will serve as standing members of the Council.

7. What happened at the first Advisory Council meeting?

The Advisory Council met for the first time Sept. 17th. Ex-officio members the VP for Academic Affairs, the VP for Student Success and Enrollment Services, and the Dean of

Undergraduate Studies each provided perspective and information to the 19 Council members in attendance. Specific actions from the first meeting were as follows:

- a. (Director of Learning Communities & Associate Professor of Communication) was elected Chair of the Council,
- b. (Professor of Computer Science & Information Systems) was elected Chair-Elect,
- c. four sub-committees were developed to explore (1) the mission statement for University College; (2) faculty appointment within University College; (3) PSU 1101/CLASS program requirement; and (4) communication to external constituencies; and
- d. meetings will be held at least every 14 days throughout fall semester.

8. Who are the members of the Advisory Council?

Dr. Dr. Dr. Dr. Dr. Dr. **Professor** Dr. Dr. Dr. Dr. Dr. Mr. Dr. Dr. Ex-Officio Members Dr. Dr. Dr. Dr. Dr. Dr. Dr. Dr. Professor Dean Dr. Dr. Dr. Dr.

Dr.

APPENDIX H

REVISED SCRIPT FOR ADVISORS:

AS YOU'VE HEARD ALREADY, ALL RESIDENTIAL STUDENTS ARE REQUIRED TO ENROLL IN A LEARNING COMMUNITY. THOSE ARE CALLED PSU 1102s IN OUR REGISTRATION SYSTEM.

SOME OF THE LEARNING COMMUNITIES INCLUDE A COURSE CALLED PSU 1101. SOME OF THEM DON'T. IT DOESN'T MATTER WHICH KIND OF COMMUNITY YOU ENROLL IN AS LONG AS YOU ARE IN A LEARNING COMMUNITY THIS FALL.

WHAT'S THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN PSU 1101 & PSU 1102? THE FIRST IS A COURSE THAT ACTUALLY APPEARS ON YOUR TRANSCRIPT WITH A GRADE. THE OTHER IS JUST A REGISTRATION NUMBER. IT'S A COLLECTION OF COURSES.

PSU 1101 is called our First-Year Experience course. It's an academically oriented, 3-hour course that acquaints students with higher education, the PSU campus, strategies for success in college-level courses, ethical decision-making skills, and major/career exploration. It counts as a lower-division elective for most majors.

PSU 1102 is the registration number for our learning communities program, referred to by the acronym CLASS. (PSU 1102, CLASS, and learning communities all refer to the same program.) As you've heard already, a learning community is a cohort of 20 to 25 students who are enrolled in the same sections of two to four first-year classes that have integrated content designed around a theme. You can find more than 50 communities that we are offering this semester listed in your Schedule of Courses book beginning on page ____. There are learning communities that include PSU 1101, and some that don't. Some include English 1101, while some do not include English at all. One community includes English 1102 for those of you who already have credit for your first English course.

ISSUES TO CONSIDER REGARDING YOUR CHOICE OF COMMUNITIES:

- 1. SOME OF THEM MAY FILL UP TODAY BEFORE YOU REGISTER, SO PLEASE HAVE A SECOND AND THIRD CHOICE IN MIND.
- 2. YOU ONLY USE ONE CRN NUMBER TO REGISTER FOR A COMMUNITY. [ASK THEM TO PULL OUT THE PRINTED SCHEDULE OF COURSES, TURN TO PAGE 5 AND EXPLAIN WHERE TO LOCATE THE CRN NUMBERS.]
- 3. MENTION THE ISSUE WITH AP SCORES AND LEARNING COMMUNITIES DO THEY KNOW THEIR SCORES?
- 4. ALL LEARNING COMMUNITIES ARE ONLY FOR ONE SEMESTER.

THIS SECTION IS ONLY NEEDED STARTING JUNE 29TH:

- How many of you are going to be living on campus? If you are <u>residential</u> student, you will need to register for a learning community (PSU 1102). Please review the descriptions

Some are themed around topics of general interest, while other communities are geared for specific majors. Since you are majoring in, you might be particularly interested in the following communities: # <title> # <title> # <title> # <title> # <title> # <title></th></tr><tr><th>- How many of you are going to be living off campus? If you planning to take a full load (at least 12 credit hours) which is generally required for some scholarships, most insurance programs, and many health plans – you will need to register for either a standalone section of PSU 1101 or join a learning community. You can find the sections of PSU 1101 listed on page of your Schedule of Courses. As I mentioned earlier, you can find the learning communities listed on pages</th></tr><tr><td>*** College of Science & Math rep should say: Biology majors can sign up for BIOL 2101 to satisfy this requirement, since it is a discipline-specific first-year seminar. There's also several learning communities designed for biology majors, so please review those options as well.</td></tr><tr><td>*** College of the Arts rep should mention the need to have portfolios reviewed for the two visual arts communities.</td></tr><tr><td>Before I turn the floor over to, who will be talking with you about your major and answering questions you have about getting started in your major, I want to REMIND YOU about registering for a learning community. Each community has one CRN, or computer number, that you use to register at one time for all the courses in that community. All you have to do is type in the five-digit CRN that is found to the left of the courses in a community, and you will be automatically registered for every course in that community.</td></tr><tr><td>If the learning community of your choice has only two or three courses in it, you will need to select other General Education and/or major courses to take to complete your full-time schedule. Both and I will be happy to work with you individually about options for your first semester.</td></tr><tr><td>Do you have any questions about PSU 1101, PSU 1102, THE WELCOME BBQ ON AUG. 16<sup>TH</sup> OR FIRST-YEAR CONVOCATION? Well, I will be with you for the remainder of your time as you register for classes, so please let me know if you think of further questions.</td></tr><tr><td></td></tr></tbody></table></title>
--

Welcome to PSU! I LOOK FORWARD TO ASSISTING YOU IN THE LABS THIS AFTERNOON WITH REGISTRATION, SEEING YOU AT THE WELCOME BBQ,

AND MEETING YOUR FAMILY AT FIRST-YEAR CONVOCATION.

APPENDIX I

New Student Orientation Evaluation Summary Fall 2005

A total of 3169 First Year and Transfer students attended orientation sessions for Fall 2005. Attached are samples of the evaluations including totals of student responses, both individually for Transfer students and FY students, and also one showing totals for both.

First Year

A total of 2011 FY students attended orientation. Of this group, 97% indicated satisfaction with information provided by their LINK leaders, while 98% indicated their leader made their group feel comfortable and 93% would feel comfortable contacting their LINK leaders.

95% of FY students indicate all of their Financial Aid questions were answered while 97% indicated the Card Service presentation helped them understand the use of the PSU ID card, Debit card and Parking decal. 93% of FY students responded that the PSU 1101 presentation answered all of their questions.

95% of FY students indicated satisfaction with the advising information provided. 94% of FY students indicated they understood the PSU registration procedure and 95% were satisfied with their course schedule.

98% of FY students believe what they learned at orientation would help them be successful their first semester at PSU and 97% of FY students indicate they would recommend orientation to other students.

Transfer

A total of 1158 Transfer students attended Summer 2005 orientations. Of this group, 96% indicated satisfaction with information provided by their LINK leaders, while 92% indicated their leader made their group feel comfortable and 93% would feel comfortable contacting their LINK leaders.

90% of Transfer students indicate all of their Financial Aid questions were answered while 96% indicated the Card Service presentation helped them understand the use of the PSU ID card, Debit card and Parking decal.

93% of Transfer students indicated satisfaction with the advising information provided. 95% of Transfer students indicated they understood the PSU registration procedure and 88% were satisfied with their course schedule.

96% of Transfer students believe what they learned at orientation would help them be successful their first semester at PSU and 97% of Transfer students indicate they would recommend orientation to other new students.

APPENDIX J

New Student Orientation Evaluation Summary

Fall 2006

First-Year Students

A total number of 1,576 First Year students responded to the evaluation survey.

A total number of 2,377 students attended the First Year Fall 2006 Orientations. Attached are samples of the evaluations including total student responses, individual FY students, and summary showing totals for each orientation held.

First Year

Of this group responding, 92.99 % indicated satisfaction with information provided by their LINK leaders, while 85.22 % responded they would feel comfortable contacting their LINK leader, which 93.71 % indicated their leader made their group feel comfortable.

88.44 % of FY students indicate all of their Financial Aid questions were answered while 93.40 % indicated the Card Service presentation helped them understand the use of the KSU ID card, Debit card and Parking decal as well as the presentation on the Bookstore/Food Services information. 94.34 % of FY students responded that their Student Life/Residence Life questions were answered satisfactory. 93.45 % of FY students responded that the KSU 1101 & 1102 presentation answered all of their questions.

92.92% of FY students indicated satisfaction with the Advising information provided. 93.08 % of FY students indicated they understood the KSU Registration procedure.

97.68% of FY students believe that the Orientation Staff and LINK Leaders were helpful and/or courteous during orientation. 95.49% of FY students feel what they learned at orientation would help them be successful their first semester at KSU and 95.08% of FY students indicate they would recommend orientation to other students.